

# Cutting through the Smoke

Why the Allegheny County Health Department Must Turn the Corner on Decades of Weak Clean Air Enforcement



FRONTIER GROUP

# **Cutting through the Smoke**

Why the Allegheny County Health Department Must Turn the Corner on Decades of Weak Clean Air Enforcement



### FRONTIER GROUP

Tony Dutzik, Frontier Group

Zachary Barber, PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center

August 2019

# Acknowledgments

PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center sincerely thanks Rachel Filippini of the Group Against Smog and Pollution and John Graham of Clean Air Task Force for their review of drafts of this document, as well as their insights and suggestions. Additional thanks to Josh Kratka of the National Environmental Law Center for his support and expertise, Jonathan Sundby of Frontier Group for his technical assistance, and Susan Rakov, Elizabeth Ridlington and R.J. Cross of Frontier Group for their editorial assistance. Meryl Compton, formerly of Frontier Group, contributed valuable research assistance and provided initial drafts of sections of this report. The authors are grateful to staff at the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 3, and the Allegheny County Health Department for their assistance in fulfilling public information requests for this report.

PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center thanks the Heinz Endowments and Colcom Foundation for making this report possible.

The authors bear responsibility for any factual errors. The recommendations are those of PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center. The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of our funders or those who provided review.

© 2019 PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center.



PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center is a 501(c)(3) organization. We are dedicated to protecting our air, water and open spaces. We investigate problems, craft solutions, educate the public and decision-makers, and help the public make their voices heard in local, state and national debates

over the quality of our environment and our lives. For more information about PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center or for additional copies of this report, please visit www.pennenvironmentcenter.org.

### FRONTIER GROUP

Frontier Group provides information and ideas to help citizens build a cleaner, healthier and more democratic America. Our experts and writers deliver timely research and analysis that is accessible to the public, applying insights gleaned from a variety of disciplines to arrive at new ideas for solving pressing problems. For more information about Frontier Group, please visit www.frontiergroup.org.

Layout: To the Point Collaborative, tothepointcollaborative.com

Cover photo: U.S. Steel Clairton Coke Works, Credit: Mark Dixon via Flickr, CC BY 2.0

# **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary
Introduction
Dirty Air Puts Allegheny County Residents' Health at Risk
Allegheny County's Air Is Often Harmful to Public Health9
Industrial Activity Is a Major Contributor to Air Pollution in Allegheny County
Protecting the Public from Air Pollution: The Role of the Allegheny County
Health Department
The Clean Air Act Limits Industrial Pollution 14
Permitting Is Central to Effective Enforcement15
The Role of the Allegheny County Health Department    15
The Allegheny County Health Department Has Numerous Enforcement Tools
Missed Opportunities: How Clean Air Enforcement Has Failed at
Seven Polluting Facilities in Allegheny County 18
U.S. Steel Clairton Coke Works, Clairton
U.S. Steel Edgar Thomson Plant, Braddock24
ATI Flat Rolled Products, Brackenridge26
Harsco Metals, Natrona
Eastman Chemicals and Resins, West Elizabeth
McConway & Torley, Pittsburgh
Allied Waste Imperial Landfill, Imperial
Improving Clean Air Enforcement: Lessons from the Case Studies
Issue Timely, Health-Based Air Quality Permits37
Take Timely, Aggressive Enforcement Action to Hold Polluters Accountable      37
Expand and Improve Air Quality Monitoring38
Partner with the Public and Other Agencies to Protect Allegheny County's Air
Notes

# **Executive Summary**

Ilegheny County has a long legacy of industrial air pollution. But while Pittsburgh is not the "Smoky City" of generations past, industrial air pollution still inflicts immense damage on the health of Allegheny County residents.

The Allegheny County Health Department (ACHD) is primarily responsible for protecting the people of Allegheny County from health-threatening air pollution. ACHD has been delegated authority to enforce the provisions of the federal Clean Air Act as well as local air pollution laws.

Yet for decades, some of Allegheny County's biggest industrial facilities have continued to release excessive amounts of pollution into the air and to violate the terms of their emissions permits. Time and again, ACHD has acted slowly in response to air pollution complaints, relied on often-violated agreements negotiated with industrial facilities, failed to issue required air pollution permits on time, and failed to establish a credible threat of tough enforcement that would incentivize polluters to act more quickly to protect public health.

There are, however, signs of change. ACHD has recently stated its intention to move away from negotiated settlements, partnered with state and federal agencies and with citizens' groups to enforce the law, and more fully used its authority to issue penalties to compel quicker action to cut emissions.

To ensure clean, healthy air for all residents of Allegheny County, ACHD must recognize the lessons of past enforcement failures and act promptly and aggressively against illegal polluters.

### Poor air quality in Allegheny County puts the public's health at risk.

- In 2016, the Pittsburgh area suffered from 121 days of elevated levels of ozone "smog" or fine particulate pollution in the air.<sup>1</sup> The American Lung Association ranks the air in the Pittsburgh metro area the seventh-worst in the nation for year-round particulate pollution and 28th worst for ozone smog.<sup>2</sup> Particulate pollution in the Monongahela Valley is among the worst in the country.<sup>3</sup>
- Allegheny County is in the top 1 percent of counties nationwide for cancer risk from toxic air pollutants released by stationary point sources of emissions, such as industrial facilities, according to 2014 data from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA).<sup>4</sup>
- The Pittsburgh metro area ranks fifth in the nation for excess mortality from exposure to ozone and particulate matter, with an estimated 232 premature deaths annually.<sup>5</sup>
- Allegheny County's air pollution harms public health, especially the health of children, the elderly and those suffering from respiratory disease. A 2017 study found that 39 percent of school children in areas of Allegheny County near major industrial pollution sources were exposed to levels of pollution in excess of U.S. EPA guidelines.<sup>6</sup> Twenty-two percent of children in those areas had asthma – a rate nearly three times the national average.

# Industrial polluters are a major source of the air pollution that jeopardizes the health of Allegheny County residents.

- Industrial facilities were the biggest source of sulfur dioxide and fine particulate (PM<sub>2.5</sub>) emissions, and the second-biggest source of smog-forming nitrogen oxide emissions in Allegheny County in 2014.<sup>7</sup>
- Pollution from point sources (including industrial facilities) accounts for nearly one-third of the cancer risk posed by hazardous air pollutants in Allegheny County.<sup>8</sup>
- Industrial pollution harms public health across Allegheny County but is especially dangerous in communities near the plants themselves.
  - <sup>o</sup> A 2012 study found that concentrations of coarse particulate matter (PM<sub>10</sub>) in Braddock were highest in the area immediately surrounding U.S. Steel's Edgar Thomson Plant.<sup>9</sup>
  - <sup>o</sup> A 2013 study by researchers from the University of Pittsburgh identified a set of census tracts in the industry-heavy Monongahela Valley that ranked high for cancer risk from hazardous air pollutants.<sup>10</sup>
  - <sup>o</sup> A 2010 study by ACHD found levels of manganese and lead in outdoor air at Highlands High School in Natrona that exceeded federal safety standards. The elevated pollution levels were correlated with operations at a nearby ATI plant.<sup>11</sup>

#### The history of seven polluting industrial facilities in Allegheny County illustrates the damage done by ACHD's lackluster approach to environmental enforcement.

 U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works has racked up so many violations of clean air rules since 1990 that it has been the subject of more than 80 government enforcement actions and notices of violation.<sup>12</sup> Over the years, ACHD and U.S. Steel have negotiated a series of consent orders in which U.S. Steel has pledged to make improvements at the facility and bring it into compliance with clean air laws. Those agreements, however, have often been violated, and the Clairton Coke Works remains one of the county's largest polluters, putting the health of Monongahela Valley residents at risk. A December 2018 fire that knocked out critical emission control units – the second such outage in a decade – triggered 10 exceedances of federal health standards for sulfur dioxide over a span of 14 weeks, and led ACHD to warn Mon Valley residents to limit their outdoor activity.<sup>13</sup>

- U.S. Steel's Edgar Thomson Plant in Braddock has violated clean air standards – especially limits on visible pollution from the plant – repeatedly over the last 40 years. Yet, despite a series of negotiated consent orders and financial penalties – and despite the public health toll of the plant's pollution on nearby neighborhoods – it has continued to exceed its emission limits, leading ACHD to finally issue a notice of violation in late 2017.<sup>14</sup>
- ATI Flat Rolled Products in Brackenridge (formerly Allegheny Ludlum) has been the target of at least 40 clean air enforcement actions and notices of violation since 1990, according to U.S. EPA records.<sup>15</sup> The facility was allowed to exceed permitted levels of sulfur dioxide for more than a decade and then received a mere \$50,000 penalty from ACHD, a penalty that was only issued after environmental and public health advocates announced their intention to sue to enforce the law.<sup>16</sup>
- Harsco Metals in Natrona processes steel slag from the neighboring ATI Flat Rolled Products plant – a process that creates dust that has coated cars and children's toys and play equipment in nearby neighborhoods. Harsco's releases of toxic metals such as chromium, manganese and lead contribute to an overall

toxic risk from air emissions that is 200 times as great as the risk posed by the typical industrial facility in Allegheny County, according to the U.S. EPA.<sup>17</sup> The dust problem continued for more than a decade after the U.S. EPA and ACHD first took enforcement action in 2007, suggesting that ACHD's enforcement strategy was ineffective in protecting the public's health.

- Eastman Chemicals and Resins in West Elizabeth is a major source of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) and hazardous air pollutants. However, ACHD has yet to issue the facility a Title V operating permit, which is required by the Clean Air Act and is a critical tool for public accountability and effective enforcement of the law. ACHD has long struggled with issuing permits to air polluters in a timely manner, a failing that was called out in a 2017 U.S. EPA evaluation, which urged ACHD to "expediently issue" the Title V permit to the company.<sup>18</sup>
- The McConway & Torley foundry in the Lawrenceville section of Pittsburgh emits toxic metals such as manganese into the air of a densely populated portion of the city. Yet the facility went for two decades without being issued necessary air pollution permits, including five years, from 2010 to 2015, in which concentrations of manganese in the air outside the facility exceeded levels that the U.S. EPA believes to be of concern to public health.<sup>19</sup>
- Allied Waste's Imperial Landfill in Imperial, Pa., illustrates the potential of timely enforcement to protect public health. After students and staff at a nearby elementary school began complaining during the winter of 2008-09 of odors from the landfill causing "headaches, nausea, sinus issues, throat problems and 'a feeling of being drugged,"<sup>20</sup> ACHD and the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (PA DEP)

moved to monitor pollution at the site and took enforcement actions. Those actions led to the payment of significant penalties and required changes in how the facility handles waste to better protect public health, though air pollution concerns continue.

#### In recent years, ACHD has shown signs of a more aggressive approach toward air pollution at major industrial facilities.

- In 2017, ACHD issued a notice of violation to U.S. Steel for continued violations at the Edgar Thomson Plant.<sup>21</sup> ACHD Director Dr. Karen Hacker called the action "a strategic change in ACHD's enforcement efforts by utilizing all of our legal options, which in this case is a joint action with EPA."<sup>22</sup> The U.S. Justice Department is currently reviewing the enforcement action.
- In 2018, ACHD issued a notice of violation to Harsco and ATI requiring immediate action to control dust emissions from Harsco's facility. ATI's response to the enforcement action highlighted the shift in ACHD's enforcement strategy: "ACHD has been investigating alleged fallout particulate emissions from the Natrona Facility *for years*," the company complained. "Harsco and ATI have been cooperating in that investigation *for years*. The Order ... is inconsistent with how ACHD has approached this matter in the past."<sup>23</sup> (emphasis added)
- In 2018 and 2019, ACHD took four enforcement actions against U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works, which eventually led to a proposed \$2.7 million settlement that would require U.S. Steel to improve equipment and maintenance at the plant.<sup>24</sup> In 2019, ACHD took a further step by joining a federal court lawsuit filed by citizen groups against U.S. Steel in response to the excessive pollution following the December 2018 fire at Clairton Coke Works.

To protect the health of Allegheny County residents, ACHD must fulfill its responsibility to enforce the law and hold air polluters accountable. Specifically, ACHD must:

- Issue timely, health-based permits ACHD must eliminate the backlog of unissued Title V permits and ensure that renewals of existing Title V permits happen in a timely manner. Four facilities, including three profiled in this report (ATI Flat Rolled Products, Eastman Chemicals and Resins, and Harsco Metals) have never had a Title V permit, and six others (including Clairton Coke Works and Allied Waste's Imperial Landfill) have Title V renewals that are past due as of May 2019. Issuing permits that protect public health, and doing so promptly, is critically important to build public confidence in ACHD's commitment to clean air.
- Use timely, aggressive enforcement actions to hold polluters accountable – Historically, ACHD has relied on negotiated consent orders to resolve past violations of clean air rules and compel investments in emission control technology and improved practices at industrial facilities. While this approach may lead to constructive partnerships to cut pollution, in practice it has often led to repeated violations of the terms of consent orders by polluters, followed by yet more agreements destined to be violated. Any effective approach to enforcing environmental

laws rests on the credible threat of financial penalties sufficient to eliminate any economic benefit from polluting along with tough requirements to ensure that polluters make necessary upgrades to protect public health. ACHD's more vigorous recent approach to polluters such as U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works sends a message about the importance of compliance not only to U.S. Steel but also to all other industrial facilities in Allegheny County.

- Expand and improve air quality monitoring As demonstrated by the recent action against U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works, data from air monitoring stations plays a critical role in identifying polluters that may be violating the law. Air monitoring in neighborhoods near industrial facilities, such as the fenceline monitoring near the McConway & Torley facility in Lawrenceville, can also help provide the public with assurance that pollution controls are working. Expanded monitoring, including support for citizen air pollution monitoring, and improved flow of information to and from the public, can help to improve enforcement and assure accountability.
- Partner with the public and other agencies to protect Allegheny County's air – ACHD has partnered with citizens groups, the PA DEP, and the U.S. EPA to harness more resources to assist with enforcement. ACHD should continue those partnerships, and also create new tools to help the public understand and participate in the enforcement of air pollution laws.

To protect the health of Allegheny County residents, ACHD must fulfill its responsibility to enforce the law and hold air polluters accountable.

## Dirty Air Puts Allegheny County Residents' Health at Risk

Pittsburgh is no longer the "Smoky City" of generations past. But for all the work that has been done to reduce pollution in southwestern Pennsylvania in recent decades, the air in the Pittsburgh area remains among the dirtiest in the United States – putting the health of local residents at risk.

Allegheny County residents are exposed to levels of fine particulate, sulfur dioxide and ozone pollution that exceed federal health standards, as well as hazardous air pollutants that lead to an elevated risk of developing cancer over a lifetime.

Air pollution from heavy industry is a major contributor to the region's air quality problems.

### Allegheny County's Air Is Often Harmful to Public Health

Allegheny County residents are regularly exposed to particulates, ozone smog, airborne toxic chemicals and other pollutants at levels that threaten their health.

#### **Particulate Matter**

Decades ago, airborne soot would make a white shirt look gray by lunchtime. Though Pittsburghers no longer need to bring a second shirt with them to work, the region continues to suffer some of the worst soot pollution in the country.

Particulates pose a variety of health threats to Allegheny County residents. Visible emissions of smoke or soot from industrial facilities are tell-tale signs of particulate pollution, but the most dangerous particulates are too small to be seen with the naked eye.

Fine particulate matter (PM<sub>2.5</sub>) is pollution made up of tiny particles that measure only a fraction the diameter of human hair. Fine particulates can cause serious health consequences and contribute to haze that mars the skies.<sup>28</sup> The small size of the particles means that they can enter the bloodstream, and contribute to elevated risk of heart attack.<sup>29</sup> Exposure to fine particulates has been linked to worsened asthma, and heightened risk of heart and lung disease.<sup>30</sup> A recent study in southwestern Pennsylvania linked a mother's exposure to particulates during pregnancy with the development of autism in her child.<sup>31</sup>

The Pittsburgh metro area has among the highest concentrations of fine particulates in the country.<sup>32</sup> A 2019 report by the American Lung Association ranked the Pittsburgh metro area seventh-worst in the country for year-round particulate pollution, with Allegheny County receiving a failing grade for particulates from 2015 to 2017.<sup>33</sup>

Another 2019 report, by researchers affiliated with the American Thoracic Society and the New York University Marron Institute of Urban Management, found that the Pittsburgh metro area ranked fourth in the nation for excess mortality from exposure to fine particulate matter, with an estimated 184 premature deaths in the area per year.<sup>34</sup> Particulate pollution in Allegheny County's air has also frequently exceeded federal health standards. In 2017, Allegheny County experienced 12 such exceedances, including 10 days on which those standards were exceeded at the Liberty/Clairton air pollution monitor in the Monongahela Valley.<sup>35</sup>

Current air quality standards for fine particulates are not fully protective of public health, particularly for vulnerable populations, meaning that even levels of particulates that are elevated but below the federal standard may pose a risk.<sup>36</sup> In 2016, the Pittsburgh area suffered from 97 days of elevated levels of fine particulate pollution in the air.<sup>37</sup>

Children are particularly vulnerable to particulate pollution, especially those living near industrial facilities. Exposure to small particulates has been linked to the development of asthma and worsening of asthma symptoms.<sup>38</sup> A 2017 study found that 39 percent of school children in areas near major industrial pollution sources in Allegheny County were exposed to levels of pollution in excess of U.S. EPA guidelines and 71 percent were exposed to pollution in excess of more stringent guidelines from the World Health Organization.<sup>39</sup> Nearly 22 percent of children living near those pollution sources had asthma, almost three times the national rate of asthma prevalence.<sup>40</sup>

#### **Ozone Smog**

Ozone pollution causes a myriad of health problems, and also affects plant health and growth.<sup>41</sup> Groundlevel ozone is formed by the reaction of nitrogen oxides and volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in the presence of sunlight and is the most common element in "smog.<sup>742</sup> Data from the Allegheny County Health Department (ACHD) shows that ozone exceeded current federal health standards of 0.07 parts per million on eight days in 2017 and seven days in 2016.<sup>43</sup> The current federal standard for ozone is believed by many public health advocates to be inadequate, meaning that even levels of ozone smog that comply with federal standards may still have negative health effects.<sup>44</sup> Accounting for these days of moderate pollution that affect public health, the Pittsburgh area experienced 46 days of elevated ozone levels in 2016.45

The Pittsburgh metro area was ranked 28th out of 228 metropolitan areas nationwide for days of high ozone "smog" from 2015 to 2017, receiving a failing grade for ozone pollution from the American Lung Association.<sup>46</sup>

There are both short- and long-term health consequences of ozone exposure. In the short term, exposure can lead to respiratory distress and exacerbate lung disease, and may increase the frequency of asthma attacks. In the long term, ozone exposure can lead to the development of asthma, and potentially cause permanent lung damage and abnormal lung formation in children.<sup>47</sup>

The Pittsburgh metro area ranks 16th in the nation for excess mortality from exposure to ozone, with an estimated 48 premature deaths per year.<sup>48</sup> Together with excess levels of particulate matter, an estimated 232 residents of the Pittsburgh area die prematurely each year as a result of exposure to air pollution.<sup>49</sup>

As with particulate matter, ozone is especially damaging to vulnerable people – even at levels deemed "safe" by the U.S. EPA. Researchers at Harvard University found that a short-term increase of 0.001 part per million of ozone during the summer (1/70<sup>th</sup> of the amount of ozone in the air the U.S. EPA considers "safe") is associated with a 0.5 percent increase in daily mortality among adults over 65 years old.<sup>50</sup> A similar rise in senior deaths was found for increases in fine particulate pollution. Given Pittsburgh's aging population, Allegheny County's polluted air poses a significant threat to public health.<sup>51</sup>

#### **Air Toxics**

In addition to ozone and particulate pollution, the Pittsburgh area has a history of emissions of toxic metals and chemicals that harm public health. Allegheny County is in the top 1 percent of counties nationally for cancer risk from air pollution from stationary point sources (including industrial facilities), according to the U.S. EPA's 2014 National Air Toxics Assessment.<sup>52</sup> Industrial sources in the county emit pollutants such as chromium, lead and manganese that can cause a variety of serious medical conditions, including cancer and nervous system damage.<sup>53</sup> Residents who live in and around Allegheny County were found to die from lung cancer at excessively high rates, even when accounting for higher rates of smoking in the region.<sup>54</sup>

Some areas of Allegheny County are particularly exposed to toxic substances in the air. Based on data from the U.S. EPA's 2014 National Air Toxics Assessment, the average resident of Allegheny County faces a cancer risk from exposure to air toxics 40 times as high as the U.S. EPA's health benchmark.<sup>55</sup> In some census tracts in Allegheny County, particularly in the Monon-gahela Valley, the risk is up to 100 times as high as the U.S. EPA benchmark. The elevated risk in the Ohio Valley may have been due to the former Shenango Coke Works on Neville Island, which closed in 2015, bringing an improvement of air quality in the area. (See Figure 1 and "Shenango Coke Works Closure Shows Impact of Industrial Pollution on Public Health," page 13.)





#### **Odors and Wood Smoke**

While much of the focus of air quality regulation is on pollution problems with well-known health effects, Allegheny County residents also have a right to live their lives without being subjected to foul odors from industrial activities or other forms of air pollution, such as smoke from burning wood and trash. Odors themselves can trigger shortterm health effects such as headaches, nausea, and ear, nose and throat irritation.<sup>57</sup>

Allegheny County's Article XXI regulations state clearly that "[n]o person shall operate, or allow to be operated, any source in such manner that emissions of malodorous matter from such source are perceptible beyond the property line of such source."<sup>58</sup> However, foul odors are a regular occurrence in Allegheny County. The "Smell Pittsburgh" smartphone app – created by a team from Carnegie Mellon University to enable residents to instantly log odor complaints – has received more than 27,000 complaints since June 2016, many of them regarding odors from industrial facilities.<sup>59</sup>

Similarly, smoke from the burning of wood contains toxic air contaminants and particulates, which pose a threat to public health.<sup>60</sup> Allegheny County's regulations on open burning are intended to protect the public from these threats.

### Industrial Activity Is a Major Contributor to Air Pollution in Allegheny County

Industrial activity is a major source of air pollution in Allegheny County. In 2014, industrial facilities were the largest source of sulfur dioxide and fine particulate emissions in the county, and the second-largest source of nitrogen oxide emissions that contribute to the formation of smog.<sup>61</sup> Industrial facilities are also the largest single contributor to the elevated risk of cancer posed by toxic air pollutants in Allegheny County.<sup>62</sup>





Improving air quality in southwestern Pennsylvania requires cleaning up industrial polluters – especially the small number of major industrial facilities that are responsible for a disproportionate share of the county's health-threatening air pollution.

#### A Few Industrial Facilities Produce Vast Amounts of Harmful Air Pollutants

Among industrial facilities in Allegheny County, a small handful of facilities are responsible for a large share of pollution. Just 10 large facilities produce 90 percent of the emissions of so-called "criteria pollutants" (ground-level ozone, particulate matter, carbon monoxide, lead, sulfur dioxide and nitrogen dioxide) from industrial pollution sources in the county.<sup>64</sup>

Two facilities stand out as the most significant point source emitters of criteria pollutants in Allegheny County: U.S. Steel Clairton Coke Works and the Cheswick Power Station. Clairton Coke Works was responsible for 40.4 percent of criteria pollutants from major industrial pollution sources in 2017, and the Cheswick Power Station accounted for 18.1 percent.<sup>65</sup>

In 2017, industrial facilities in Allegheny County reported releasing nearly 1.5 million pounds of toxic substances to the air, according to the U.S. EPA's Toxics Release Inventory.<sup>66</sup> Four-fifths of those reported releases came from just four facilities: U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works, Edgar Thomson Plant and Irvin Plant, along with the Cheswick Power Station.<sup>67</sup>

While large industrial polluters produce a significant amount of Allegheny County's air pollution, there are other important sources of pollution as well. The transportation sector accounts for roughly half of the county's total nitrogen oxide emissions and one third of VOC emissions, and is also a major source of carbon monoxide.<sup>68</sup> So-called "area sources," which include small industrial facilities, gas stations, and buildings, are also significant sources of particulate matter and VOC emissions.<sup>69</sup>

## Shenango Coke Works Closure Shows Impact of Industrial Pollution on Public Health

The Shenango coke works on Neville Island was a major source of pollution affecting communities on both sides of the Ohio River before its closure in 2016. The closure of the plant has led to cleaner air and healthier communities – an indicator of the dramatic benefits that can result when pollution from industrial facilities is reduced.

Shenango ranked ninth among industrial facilities in Allegheny County for the toxic risk posed by its air emissions in 2013.<sup>70</sup> The facility was also a significant source of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, volatile organic compounds and other air emissions.<sup>71</sup>

The closure of the plant corresponded with health improvements in the communities most affected by emissions from Shenango. Research by pediatrician Dr. Deborah Gentile found a drop in asthma rates in communities on the north side of the Ohio River following the Shenango closure.<sup>72</sup> In addition, data collected by the ACHD showed an 11 percent reduction in airborne particulates in the year following the plant's closure in communities near the plant, along with a 37 percent drop in benzene. Those reductions in pollution corresponded with a 38 percent reduction in hospitalizations for asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and a 27 percent reduction in emergency room visits for cardiovascular disease.<sup>73</sup>

Air pollution downwind of major industrial facilities contributes to a host of health problems. Measures to limit pollution – including strong enforcement of emissions permits – can make an immediate and mean-ingful impact on public health.

## Protecting the Public from Air Pollution: The Role of the Allegheny County Health Department

he Allegheny County Health Department (ACHD) is primarily responsible for enforcing the federal Clean Air Act and state and local air pollution laws in Allegheny County. As a result, ACHD's approach to enforcing the law has a direct impact on the behavior of polluting industries and the health of Allegheny County residents.

The Clean Air Act envisions a partnership between federal, state and, in some cases, local officials in cleaning up the nation's air and protecting public health. The U.S. EPA sets national standards for air quality designed to protect public health. States play a leading role in determining how to meet those standards, in monitoring air quality, and in implementing the law on the ground, with the U.S. EPA retaining oversight and enforcement authority in cases where states fall short.

In some cases, an approved local agency can fulfill the role of the state in enforcing the law. In Allegheny County, ACHD is that local agency.

### The Clean Air Act Limits Industrial Pollution

The federal Clean Air Act includes numerous provisions designed to clean up America's air and limit the impact of industrial facilities on public health.

#### Air Quality Standards and State Implementation Plans

The Clean Air Act requires the U.S. EPA to set National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) for pollutants that threaten the environment and public health. The U.S. EPA has set standards for six such air pollutants (particulate matter, ozone, carbon monoxide, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and lead), known as "criteria" pollutants.<sup>74</sup>

States are charged with developing their own plans – called State Implementation Plans (SIPs) – to reduce pollution in order to come into or remain in compliance with NAAQS.<sup>75</sup> These plans generally include requirements for air quality monitoring, pollutant control measures, emissions inventories and enforcement mechanisms.

### Standards for Stationary Emissions Sources

In addition to addressing existing air pollution problems, the Clean Air Act establishes minimum standards that stationary sources of air pollution – such as factories, industrial boilers and power plants – must meet. A primary set of regulations are the Clean Air Act's New Source Performance Standards (NSPS), which apply to key categories of stationary sources of air pollution that are either newly constructed or that have undergone significant upgrades or modifications.<sup>76</sup> Each type of operation, such as a petroleum refinery or steel plant, has its own set of specific NSPS regulations.<sup>77</sup>

Stationary sources must undergo New Source Review (NSR) when they apply for a permit to construct, modify or add to their facility, to determine whether the source will be subject to the more stringent limitations applicable to newer facilities. States develop their own NSR requirements, which are approved by the U.S. EPA in the SIP.<sup>78</sup>

#### Hazardous Air Pollutants

The Clean Air Act also sets out National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) for stationary source emissions of 187 toxic air pollutants, such as coke oven gas and known carcinogens such as benzene.<sup>79</sup> The NESHAPs set technology-based standards that require use of the maximum achievable control technology (MACT) to limit emissions.

While the federal Clean Air Act provides a national backstop to protect air quality, state and local governments have the ability to adopt standards for industrial polluters that are stronger than those established by the federal government.<sup>80</sup>

### Permitting Is Central to Effective Enforcement

Clean air permits lay out the requirements that facilities must meet in order to protect air quality. Industrial facilities in Pennsylvania must obtain "installation permits" when they install or modify equipment, and major sources of pollution must obtain "operating permits" under Title V of the Clean Air Act.<sup>81</sup> "Major sources" are facilities that emit or have the potential to emit air pollutants at or above a certain threshold – typically 100 tons/year – although there are exceptions under certain circumstances and for sources of hazardous air pollutants.<sup>82</sup>

Title V operating permits integrate the conditions of all the existing permits into one permit that governs a facility and is designed to ensure compliance with the Clean Air Act and local regulations.<sup>83</sup> Each facility's Title V permit typically includes the source's requirements for inspections, monitoring, compliance certification, fee payment and reporting.<sup>84</sup>

ACHD is responsible for issuing Title V permits in Allegheny County, but the U.S. EPA itself can issue Title V permits in certain circumstances, including when it objects to a permit issued by a state or local entity and that entity does not correct the permit.<sup>85</sup> The permitting process involves a public comment period and review by the U.S. EPA. The U.S. EPA maintains an oversight role that includes periodic evaluations of how well the state or agency is handling its permitting responsibilities. Title V permits are intended to be renewed every five years, but facilities can continue to operate under expired permits until their existing permit is renewed, so long as they have submitted a timely application for renewal.

Permits issued under Title V are critical tools in enforcement of clean air standards and in holding facilities accountable to their responsibility to operate in ways that are protective of public health. Facilities with Title V permits must file compliance reports annually or semi-annually, providing a regular check on their performance.<sup>86</sup> And because Title V permits bring all of a facility's requirements together in one place, they are an important tool for residents, citizens' groups and government agencies to use in enforcing the law.

### The Role of the Allegheny County Health Department

The Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (PA DEP) is responsible for air quality regulation and enforcement in Pennsylvania, except in Allegheny County and Philadelphia, where local agencies have those responsibilities.<sup>87</sup> Even in Allegheny County, however, PA DEP has oversight over the local agency's handling of its monitoring, regulatory and enforcement duties, much as the U.S. EPA has oversight responsibility over the PA DEP.<sup>88</sup> Allegheny County's history of air pollution regulation dates back to well before the adoption of the federal Clean Air Act. In 1949, Allegheny County adopted a smoke control ordinance (eight years after Pittsburgh did the same) and established the Bureau of Air Pollution Control to enforce it.<sup>89</sup> In 1957, the county took over full responsibility for air pollution control from the city of Pittsburgh.

Allegheny County's rules and regulations are set forth in Article XXI, which is incorporated into the Pennsylvania SIP.<sup>90</sup> Article XXI lays out requirements for emissions reporting, testing, monitoring and enforcement, and also sets Pollutant Emission Standards, which establish emission-specific regulations for sources of sulfur oxides, odor, particulates and visible emissions, as well as for sources using certain materials or equipment.<sup>91</sup> The regulations further include activity-specific Source Emission and Operating Standards, which cover specific emissions sources.<sup>92</sup> For example, one of the provisions that applies specifically to major sources of nitrogen oxides and volatile organic compounds requires the implementation of U.S. EPA-approved Reasonably Available Control Technology.<sup>93</sup>

Two of ACHD's key responsibilities are issuing operating permits to all major stationary sources of pollution in the county and requiring that they install and operate the necessary pollution control equipment to meet emissions standards.<sup>94</sup>

### The Allegheny County Health Department Has Numerous Enforcement Tools

Industrial facilities in Allegheny County have a responsibility to follow the Clean Air Act and Article XXI. They must install and operate required air pollution control equipment and meet emissions limits, as laid out in their air quality permits and county regulations.<sup>95</sup> They must also allow ACHD to conduct inspections and carry out its enforcement responsibilities, and ensure that any applications, reports or

other documentation that they submit to the department are true and accurate.<sup>96</sup>

ACHD has a number of enforcement tools that it can employ to ensure that sources of air pollution comply with all local, state and federal regulations.<sup>97</sup> ACHD identifies violators through inspections, monitoring and required reporting by the facilities, and can pursue enforcement actions for any violation or form of noncompliance.<sup>98</sup>

The enforcement tools available to the department include the power to revoke a permit, issue an enforcement order directing a source to come into compliance with its permit or take other actions to protect public health, initiate criminal proceedings, and assess civil penalties. Grounds for permit revocation include a facility using improper or ineffective control equipment or causing emissions that prevent the attainment of NAAQS anywhere in Pennsylvania.<sup>99</sup> Additionally, while some exemptions apply, a facility that is planning to install, replace or remodel its facility or its pollution control equipment can have its permit application denied if it has committed a violation in the previous 18 months.<sup>100</sup>

ACHD can also bring a petition from the department or Board of Health to the county executive requesting that the district attorney initiate appropriate criminal action, or a petition requesting that the U.S. EPA and the U.S. Department of Justice and/or the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection and Commonwealth Attorney General pursue appropriate civil or criminal action.<sup>101</sup> The department also has the authority to issue an enforcement order to a source operating in violation of Article XXI requiring immediate shutdown of the entire operation or a specific part of it. Failure to comply with an enforcement order can be met with penalties and further enforcement actions.<sup>102</sup>

Financial penalties can be a particularly powerful deterrent to violating clean air rules. ACHD revised its civil penalty policy in 2018 to allow for steeper

penalties against air polluters. A health department spokesperson, quoted in *Public Source*, claimed that if the new policy had been in place in 2016, the penalties assessed to polluters in that year would have been 60 percent higher.<sup>103</sup> According to the department, more penalties were assessed in the 16-month period from the beginning of 2018 to the end of April 2019 (\$3.4 million) than in the 36-month period from 2015 to 2017. Recent fines include the largest fine in ACHD history, to U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works.<sup>104</sup>

While the U.S. EPA has delegated enforcement responsibility to many state and local agencies, it retains the power to take action against violators of a federally approved SIP, as well as against the states themselves.<sup>105</sup> For example, in April 2018, the U.S. EPA issued warnings to Pennsylvania, California and Idaho for failing to include required elements in their revised SIPs for soot pollution. Allegheny County was one of three Pennsylvania counties that had failed to fulfill the requirement.<sup>106</sup> If any state fails to submit an acceptable plan within 18 months of the warning, it could face sanctions or be compelled to comply with a federal implementation plan that addresses the SIP's shortcomings.<sup>107</sup> The U.S. EPA can also revoke the delegation of authority to states (or to local entities such as ACHD) to implement the Clean Air Act.

The Clean Air Act and local regulations establish a framework for protecting the public from the adverse health effects of industrial air pollution. They also give enforcement agencies, like the Allegheny County Health Department, the authority to take a variety of actions to compel polluters to comply with the law.

Often, however, ACHD has failed to use the full authority it possesses to protect the public from industrial pollution, relying on negotiated consent orders that failed to hold polluters fully accountable, failing to issue required air pollution permits on time, and missing opportunities to establish pollution limits that are protective of the public's health. The following seven case studies demonstrate the consequences of those failures for public health and the environment – and demonstrate the need for an aggressive approach to clean air enforcement in Allegheny County.

## Missed Opportunities: How Clean Air Enforcement Has Failed at Seven Polluting Facilities in Allegheny County

The Allegheny County Health Department is responsible for using the authority granted to it under the federal Clean Air Act and state and local regulations to protect the health of county residents from air pollution. Too often in its history, however, ACHD has failed or refused to use that authority to the fullest extent possible, choosing to negotiate with polluters rather than deter violations of the law through strict enforcement and significant penalties. ACHD often continued this strategy even after facilities had repeatedly violated the terms of previous agreements.

In addition, the department often failed in its basic responsibility to issue air pollution permits that were protective of public health, and to issue these permits in a timely manner.

The ensuing seven case studies document specific past failures of ACHD's approach to enforcement, as well as the recent apparent shift toward a more aggressive enforcement strategy.

Photo: Joseph A. via Flickr, CC-BY-NC-SA 2.0



U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works

#### U.S. Steel Clairton Coke Works, Clairton

One of the largest sources of toxic air pollution in Allegheny County escaped accountability for decades, as one negotiated agreement after another failed to bring the facility into compliance with pollution rules. Now, more than 80 formal and informal enforcement actions later and with threats to public health continuing from the facility's emissions, ACHD officials are signaling a tougher approach.

U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works is part of an integrated steel manufacturing complex along the Monongahela River that includes the Edgar Thomson Plant in Braddock (see page 24) and the Irvin Plant in West Mifflin.

Emissions from Clairton Coke Works contribute to the Monongahela Valley's air pollution problems, which are among the worst in the United States and which threaten the health of thousands of nearby residents. Despite years of violations of clean air rules at the facility, the Allegheny County Health Department worked cooperatively with U.S. Steel, arriving at a series of consent orders that failed to bring the facility into compliance with the law and included penalties far too small to gain the attention of a multinational corporation with net earnings of more than \$1 billion a year.<sup>108</sup> More recently, however, ACHD has taken a stronger regulatory stand, creating hope that long-suffering Mon Valley residents will finally get the cleaner air they deserve.

Coke is an important element in steelmaking, providing fuel for blast furnaces and playing an important role in the chemical reactions that create steel. Coke production has taken place in Clairton for a century.<sup>109</sup> Today, the Clairton Coke Works is the largest coke producer in North America, processing 16,000 tons of coal per day into 10,000 tons of coke, as of 2012.<sup>110</sup> In addition to producing coke, the plant produces by-products of value in the marketplace.<sup>111</sup> Coke production is an inherently dirty activity, and the Clairton Coke Works is one of the largest air polluters in Allegheny County. In 2017, the facility was responsible for 51 percent of all carbon monoxide emissions, 51 percent of all nitrogen oxide emissions, 61 percent of all particulate (PM<sub>10</sub>) emissions, 25 percent of all sulfur dioxide emissions, and 90 percent of all hydrogen sulfide emissions from Allegheny County's largest industrial point sources of pollution.<sup>112</sup>

The process of producing coke involves heating coal to temperatures high enough to drive off impurities, which are released in the form of "coke oven gas" that contains tars, oils, hydrogen sulfide, volatile organic compounds, ammonia, particulate matter and other pollutants.<sup>113</sup> Coke oven gas from the Clairton Coke Works is supposed to be routed through pollution control devices so that the cleaned gas can be legally used as fuel for the coke ovens and other production processes at the plant, as well as for production units at the company's operations at the nearby Edgar Thomson and Irvin plants (which are connected by miles of piping). The particulates and toxic substances generated by the coke production process can harm public health if they escape into the air.<sup>114</sup>

Although emissions from the facility have declined significantly since 1996, air quality in the region surrounding the Clairton Works remains poor and the Clairton Coke Works has racked up a string of Clean Air Act violations in recent decades.<sup>115</sup> On at least two occasions, major mishaps interrupted operation of the plant's desulfurization system – a critical system for controlling emissions – for extended periods of time, leading to periods of intense pollution that have posed an elevated danger to public health.

U.S. EPA records show 85 enforcement actions and notices of violation against the facility from the beginning of 1990 to the spring of 2019 – an average of three per year.<sup>116</sup> Until recently, when the department began issuing regular, quarterly fines to U.S. Steel, ACHD primarily took a cooperative approach to its dealings with the company, working with U.S. Steel to negotiate a series of consent orders to resolve previous violations of the law and leverage improvements at the plant.

In June 2007, for example, the steelmaker and ACHD entered into a consent order to address emissions from one of the company's coke batteries. That order resulted in a \$395,900 penalty.<sup>117</sup> The following year, another consent order resulted in U.S. Steel's commitment to shut down three coke batteries by 2013 and three others by 2015, take a series of other steps to limit pollution at the Clairton Coke Works and at Braddock's Edgar Thomson Plant (see page 24), and pay a \$301,800 civil penalty.<sup>118</sup>

In 2009, an explosion resulted in the "catastrophic failure" of its desulfurization plant, as well as the death of a worker.<sup>119</sup> The explosion knocked the desulfurization plant out of operation for four months, causing the Clairton Coke Works, the Edgar Thomson Plant and the Irvin Plant to exceed limits on sulfur pollution.<sup>120</sup> U.S. Steel chose to operate the plants without these required pollution controls, exposing residents to dangerous pollution.<sup>121</sup> The incident led to a penalty of \$61,275 in addition to any penalties assessed resulting from violations of previous agreements.<sup>122</sup>

In 2010, ACHD and U.S. Steel entered into another consent order, in which U.S. Steel revoked its earlier promise to retire three of the coke batteries. The new order gave the steelmaker three years to meet emissions limits at those batteries, while allowing the steelmaker until late 2012 and late 2014 to meet emission limits at two other batteries.<sup>123</sup> The following year, ACHD and U.S. Steel revised the agreement yet again, acknowledging continued violations of air quality rules at the plant.<sup>124</sup>

In August 2014, a new consent order required U.S. Steel to pay a \$300,000 penalty and take action to address violations from new equipment installed just two years earlier.<sup>125</sup> The agreement was not announced to the public until disclosed in a *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette* story a month later. Throughout this period, as ACHD negotiated settlement after settlement with U.S. Steel and the company continued to fail to reduce its emissions, residents in the Monongahela Valley and beyond continued to be harmed by breathing unhealthy levels of air pollution.

Data from the air quality monitor in Liberty Borough, which is located across the Monongahela River from Clairton, illustrates the threat to human health. Every year from 2001 to 2017, the Liberty monitor registered multiple short-term exceedances of health standards for fine particulate matter ( $PM_{2.5}$ ). In 2017, the monitor registered 10 such exceedances. Liberty has also seen exceedances of sulfur dioxide health standards since at least 2010, with 18 such exceedances in 2017, the most since 2012.<sup>126</sup> (Levels of fine particulates measured at the monitor were lower than annual federal limits during 2018.)<sup>127</sup>

A 2019 report by Clean Water Action documents that the Monongahela Valley has experienced hundreds of exceedances of health-based air quality standards since 2006, accounting for 91 percent of all such exceedances in Allegheny County during that period. The report also found that the Mon Valley regularly has the worst air quality in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.<sup>128</sup> In 2017, Liberty recorded the highest level of fine particulate pollution of any air quality monitor east of the Rocky Mountains.<sup>129</sup> And a 2012 analysis by the University of Pittsburgh's Center for Healthy Environments and Communities (CHEC) found that the Clairton/Liberty area experienced some of the worst particulate pollution in the entire United States.<sup>130</sup>

The Mon Valley's air quality problems, exacerbated by emissions from the Clairton Works, have dire consequences for public health. The U.S. EPA's 2014 National Air Toxics Assessment estimates that residents of some neighborhoods near the Clairton Works are exposed to toxic air pollutants sufficient to pose a risk of contracting cancer over a lifetime that is 100 times the U.S. EPA's health risk benchmark and several times as great as the risk faced by other residents of Allegheny County.<sup>131</sup> (See page 11.)

Additional research in the city of Clairton by local pediatrician Dr. Deborah Gentile and her team found that students at Clairton Elementary School had asthma at nearly twice the rate of students in Pennsylvania as a whole.<sup>132</sup> Nearly two-thirds of those students (60 percent) were exposed to small particulate pollution at levels higher than those recommended by the World Health Organization to limit premature mortality.<sup>133</sup> In 2019, Dr. Gentile found that children with asthma in Clairton experienced more severe symptoms in the wake of a fire at the plant that knocked out pollution controls and led to elevated emissions.<sup>134</sup>

The continued health risks posed by pollution from the Clairton Works – and ACHD's continued failure to bring U.S. Steel into compliance with the law - led the environmental group PennFuture to file a notice of intent to sue the company in January 2016. The letter documented approximately 6,700 violations of the terms of U.S. Steel's emissions permits between 2012 and 2015.<sup>135</sup> In March 2016, ACHD and U.S. Steel entered into yet another consent order, covering violations over the previous seven years. The agreement gave U.S. Steel an additional three years before it had to comply with the limits on visible pollution in its permit for its coke batteries, while requiring other changes at the plant. It also issued an additional penalty of \$25,000.<sup>136</sup> The consent agreement was met with skepticism by environmental advocates, who pointed to U.S. Steel's serial violations of previous agreements.<sup>137</sup>

In 2018, however, ACHD's approach began to change. In June 2018, ACHD issued an enforcement order that was candid in its assessment of U.S. Steel's failure to bring emissions from the plant into line with the law. "Although the 2016 Consent Decree was intended to provide an avenue for U.S. Steel to lower its emission profile," the order stated, "it continues to experience ever-increasing visible emissions and unexplained exceedances." The order documented a deteriorating rate of compliance at the plant. "From 2014 to 2017, the Clairton Coke Works facility-wide compliance percentage has gone from 94.4% to 84.0% and is 75% as of April 2018."<sup>138</sup>

The order also detailed a shocking pattern of actions by the plant's employees including:

"U.S. Steel employees have engaged in a practice wherein an employee will walk a few paces in advance of inspectors and apply a mud-like mixture to emission points in such a manner as to obscure the emission."

"U.S. Steel employees have operated coke oven door removal machines in such a manner so as to obscure ACHD emission observations ...;"

"ACHD inspectors have observed partial pushing of coke from ovens to avoid the potential violations otherwise associated with a complete pushing of coke." <sup>139</sup>

Health Department officials linked U.S. Steel's violations with worsening air quality in the vicinity. U.S. Steel's violations "had a direct impact on the nearby Liberty Monitor, which has begun to measure increasing levels of fine particulate matter," said ACHD Director Dr. Karen Hacker, quoted in the *Pittsburgh Tribune-Review*.<sup>140</sup>

The enforcement order carried a penalty of \$1 million.<sup>141</sup> Public health advocates welcomed the new, stronger approach to enforcement, while noting that it was long overdue. "We are finally seeing an enforcement action that is beginning to approach the serious nature of pollution that is being caused by this facility," said Jacquelyn Bonomo, president and CEO of PennFuture, quoted in *NextPittsburgh*.<sup>142</sup>

In U.S. Steel's appeal of the enforcement action, the company highlighted ACHD's change in its approach to enforcement:

"ACHD and U.S. Steel have historically met on a regular basis and engaged in a collaborative process that has resulted in significant environmental improvements when needed. Earlier this year, ACHD changed course and, without any notice, issued the Enforcement Order, which includes one of the largest penalties ever imposed by ACHD ..."<sup>143</sup>

ACHD continued its recent efforts to hold U.S. Steel accountable for its pollution by issuing further enforcement orders, including \$614,000 penalty for violations committed in the second quarter of 2018, a \$708,000 penalty for violations committed during the second half of 2018, and a \$338,000 penalty for violations in the first quarter of 2019.<sup>144</sup> U.S. Steel's appeals of these enforcement orders were tentatively resolved in a proposed June 2019 settlement that would require the company to pay a total of \$2.7 million in penalties, make equipment upgrades and improve training for workers.<sup>145</sup>

On December 24, 2018, a fire at the Clairton Coke Works knocked out the plant's desulfurization unit and other air pollution controls, causing a surge in air pollution. Ten exceedances of federal health standards for sulfur dioxide occurred during the 14 weeks that the desulfurization unit was offline.<sup>146</sup> Nearby pollution monitors also registered 15 exceedances of federal health standards for hydrogen sulfide.<sup>147</sup> Two weeks after the incident, Allegheny County officials issued a health warning to those living in the area – especially those with "existing respiratory and/or cardiovascular conditions, children and the elderly" – urging them to limit their outdoor activity.<sup>148</sup>

U.S. Steel continued to operate the plant despite the failure of its emission control equipment and elevated emissions levels from the facility. The company claimed it was trying to reduce the impact of its pollution on public health through operational changes, but those measures mainly changed the sources from which the increased emissions were released.<sup>149</sup> With pollution levels continuing to spike in early February 2019, an ACHD review of emissions data revealed that U.S. Steel's response to the fire at Clairton Works had caused a dramatic increase in sulfur dioxide emissions at its other Mon Valley facilities.<sup>150</sup>

According to ACHD's enforcement order: "U.S. Steel's calculations indicate that on January 29, 2019, the flaring of coke oven gas which took place at the Irvin facility and which was intended to dilute the emission of SO<sub>2</sub>, in fact, pushed approximately **20 tons of SO2 into the atmosphere.**" (emphasis in the original)<sup>151</sup>

In February 2019, PennEnvironment and the Clean Air Council announced their intent to sue U.S. Steel under the Clean Air Act.<sup>152</sup> And on April 29, 2019, those organizations, represented by attorneys from the National Environmental Law Center, filed a citizen enforcement suit against U.S. Steel for violations of the Clean Air Act committed following the fire, including exceedances of limits for sulfur dioxide at the Clairton Works and the Edgar Thomson and Irvin plants.<sup>153</sup>

In an unusual step, the Health Department filed a formal motion in federal court to join in the citizen suit against the company, a motion that was granted in June 2019.<sup>154</sup> A press release announcing the motion stated the following:

Joining this action will ensure the strongest case possible is brought against U.S. Steel. After reviewing the initial filing, our legal counsel determined that collaborating with the citizens' groups would increase the resources available to the department and allow for the best possible outcome of our enforcement action for public health and impacted residents.<sup>155</sup>

Incredibly, on June 17, 2019, another fire at the Clairton Coke Works knocked out the plant's desulfurization unit yet again. This time, the outage was short, lasting less than a day.<sup>156</sup> Within hours of the event, the ACHD issued an emergency order requiring the plant to "immediately cease all coke-making operations" if repairs were not made within 20 days – a change in approach from the department's delayed response to the December 2018 fire.<sup>157</sup> (See sidebar).

It is unclear whether ACHD's newfound aggressiveness in bringing an end to the Clairton Coke Works' long-time threatening of residents' health will succeed where the previous strategy of collaboration had failed. However, in one signal that U.S. Steel may be considering a new strategy, the company announced in May 2019 that it planned to invest more than \$1 billion in its facilities in the Mon Valley, including the construction of a cogeneration power facility that will use coke oven gas from the Clairton Works to generate electricity to power its facilities in the Mon Valley.<sup>158</sup> The company claims that the updates at the plant will cut particulate matter emissions by 60 percent, sulfur dioxide emissions by 50 percent, and nitrogen oxide emissions by 80 percent.<sup>159</sup> The new facilities are expected to be completed in 2022.

While the promised new investment is a possible sign of hope, U.S. Steel has made similar promises before, including its rescinded promise to replace three aging coke batteries at Clairton with more modern equipment.<sup>160</sup> Additionally, the new proposal would do little to address the core problem at the facility: old and leaky equipment being used for an inherently dirty process.

U.S. Steel's decades-long history of failed promises, and the fact that coke manufacturing is inherently dirty, mean that continued vigilance will be necessary on the part of ACHD to protect the health and welfare of Mon Valley residents.

### Three Fires, Three Strategies for Enforcement

Three times in the last decade, key pollution controls at the Clairton Coke Works have been knocked offline, and in each case ACHD took a different enforcement strategy, illustrating the department's evolution toward tougher, more rapid actions to hold polluters accountable.



**September 2009:** U.S. Steel continues to run plant with little consequence. Is assessed \$61,275 fine.



**December 2018:** ACHD is initially slow to respond, choosing not to issue an emergency order. Takes enforcement action two months after initial fire, following numerous exceedances of federal health standards for air pollution. Eventually joins citizen enforcement lawsuit against U.S. Steel to "ensure the strongest case possible is brought against U.S. Steel."



**June 2019:** Issues emergency order within hours of incident giving the company a maximum of 20 days to bring pollution controls back online or be forced to idle the plant. Emission controls are restored within 24 hours. Photo: Penn State University CC-BY-SA 2.0



U.S. Steel Edgar Thomson Plant, Braddock The last traditional steel mill in Allegheny County

has been jeopardizing the health of its neighbors for decades. A series of negotiated agreements with U.S. Steel has failed to bring the plant into compliance with the law.

U.S. Steel's Edgar Thomson Plant in Braddock has a place in the history of the steel industry. It was Andrew Carnegie's first steel mill and, today, it is a central part of the last integrated steelmaking complex in the Monongahela Valley.

For residents living near the plant, however, the Edgar Thomson Plant has been a consistent source of health-threatening pollution. For four decades, county, state and federal officials have attempted to rein in pollution from the plant and U.S. Steel's other facilities in the Mon Valley and bring them into compliance with the Clean Air Act. Yet, today, the plant continues to put residents of Braddock and neighboring communities at risk. U.S. Steel's history of clean air violations dates back generations. In 1979, the U.S. EPA filed suit against U.S. Steel over air pollution at the company's Mon Valley facilities, eventually resulting in a consent order that included PA DEP and ACHD. According to a 1988 U.S. EPA report, the intent of the agreement was to "bring nine of the company's western Pennsylvania plants into compliance with air and water pollution regulations by the end of 1982."<sup>161</sup>

That did not happen, as compliance problems at the plant and U.S. Steel's other Mon Valley facilities continued for decades. In 1991, the U.S. EPA filed suit against the company again, alleging violations of the Clean Air Act and the company's previous agreements.<sup>162</sup> The suit resulted in a 1993 consent order that came with a \$1.8 million penalty and a pledge from U.S. Steel to make improvements at the Clairton Coke Works and Edgar Thomson Plant to bring them into compliance with emissions limits.<sup>163</sup> In 1994, the U.S. EPA took action against the company for alleged violations of nitrogen oxide standards at Clairton and Edgar Thomson, resulting in another consent order, which required U.S. Steel to install emissions monitoring equipment for nitrogen oxides and pay a \$125,000 penalty.<sup>164</sup>

Violations of limits on visible pollution that occurred during 1996 and 1997 led to a 1999 consent order that included a \$550,000 penalty.<sup>165</sup> U.S. EPA records show continued violations of air pollution rules at Edgar Thomson leading to formal enforcement actions in 2004 and 2005.<sup>166</sup>

In 2008, U.S. Steel entered into another consent order with ACHD over violations at Clairton and the Edgar Thomson Plant.<sup>167</sup> In the case of Edgar Thomson, ACHD detected likely violations of limits on visible pollution from the facility in 2004 and found that U.S. Steel could not certify that the facility was in compliance with the law.<sup>168</sup>

In 2009, the failure of the desulfurization plant at the Clairton Coke Works (see page 20), led to a spike in sulfur emissions from the Edgar Thomson Plant and the Irvin Plant. The four-month outage led to a \$61,725 settlement between ACHD and U.S. Steel, not counting violations of air pollution standards for visible pollution that were governed by other consent agreements.<sup>169</sup>

Decades of negotiated settlements with U.S. Steel did not remove the dangers posed by the Edgar Thomson Plant to Braddock or surrounding communities, with certain problems at the plant – such as exceedance of limits on visible pollution – recurring at frequent intervals over the years. Since 1990, the plant has been the target of 12 formal and informal enforcement actions, according to U.S. EPA records.<sup>170</sup> In addition, it took until the early 2010s for the plant to receive its first Title V operating permit – an important tool for enforcement and public accountability – due to staffing shortages at ACHD.<sup>171</sup>

The toll of Edgar Thomson's pollution on surrounding communities is significant. According to U.S. Steel's reports to the federal Toxics Release Inventory (TRI), the risk posed by the facility's toxic releases – particularly its air releases of metals such as cadmium, nickel, chromium, manganese and lead and their compounds – is twice as great as that of the average iron and steel mill nationwide, and 281 times as great as the typical industrial facility in Allegheny County reporting to the TRI in 2017.<sup>172</sup> Its toxic risk was the ninth-highest among all facilities in the county reporting to the TRI.<sup>173</sup>

The facility is also a major source of pollution in the Mon Valley. As of 2017, the plant was the third-highest emitter of hydrochloric acid in Allegheny County, after only U.S. Steel's Clairton Coke Works and Irvin Plant.<sup>174</sup> The plant is also one of the county's largest industrial sources of sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides and particulate pollution.<sup>175</sup>

Pollution from the Edgar Thomson Plant harms public health. A 2012 University of Pittsburgh study identified Braddock as one of a number of Mon Valley communities subjected to elevated levels of particulate pollution from industrial facilities.<sup>176</sup> While particulate pollution at the air quality monitor in North Braddock has fallen since the early 2000s, the area continues to post exceedances of federal health standards for particulates and other pollutants. In 2017, the air quality monitor in North Braddock registered fine particulate (PM<sub>2,5</sub>) pollution in exceedance of federal health standards once and levels of sulfur dioxide in excess of the standards three times. The exceedance of particulate health standards was the first recorded since 2011, illustrating the tenuous progress toward cleaner air in the area.<sup>177</sup>

For people living in the immediate vicinity of the Edgar Thomson Plant, the impact of pollution may be even greater. A 2012 study based on local air monitoring within Braddock found that particulate concentrations in the city on summer mornings were approximately double those measured at air quality monitors operated by ACHD located farther away from the plant, such as the one in North Braddock.<sup>178</sup> Concentrations of coarse particulates (PM<sub>10</sub>) were highest in areas near the plant, though no such variation in fine particulate levels (PM<sub>2.5</sub>) was found. "The results point to plant operations-related particle emissions as the primary source for PM pollution in and immediately around Braddock," the study found.<sup>179</sup>

As with other facilities across Allegheny County, the reliance of ACHD and other regulatory agencies on negotiated agreements – agreements that have often been violated by U.S. Steel – has left residents in areas around the plants continuing to struggle with the health effects of pollution. And, as with several other facilities, ACHD has made recent moves toward a more aggressive regulatory posture.

In November 2017, the U.S. EPA, working with ACHD, issued a notice of violation to U.S. Steel for violations that occurred at the Edgar Thomson Plant, including violations of limits for visible emissions that occurred during 2016 and 2017, as well as other violations of the facility's Title V permit.<sup>180</sup>

In a press release, ACHD Director Dr. Karen Hacker called the notice of violation "a strategic change in ACHD's enforcement efforts by utilizing all of our legal options, which in this case is a joint action with EPA."<sup>181</sup> The enforcement action related to the 2017 notice of violation is with the U.S. Department of Justice as of this writing.<sup>182</sup>

Along with the Irvin Plant, the Edgar Thomson Plant experienced a surge in sulfur emissions related to the fire at the Clairton Coke Works in December 2018 (see page 22). The emissions violations resulting from the incident are the target of a Clean Air Act citizen suit filed by PennEnvironment and the Clean Air Council in April 2019.

It remains to be seen how the issues identified in the 2017 notice of violation will be resolved, as well as the long-term impact of the county's more aggressive enforcement posture and U.S. Steel's proposed major investment in its Mon Valley facilities. For residents of Braddock and neighboring communities, however, eliminating the Edgar Thomson Plant's threat to public health – something that has repeatedly been promised for four decades – can't come soon enough.

### ATI Flat Rolled Products, Brackenridge

A steelmaker violated permitted pollution limits for years with little action by ACHD. When public health advocates sued, ACHD responded by issuing a slap-on-the-wrist fine. The plant also operates without ever having been issued a required Title V operating permit.

ATI Flat Rolled Products (ATI) operates a steel mill in Brackenridge on the Allegheny River, making stainless steel and specialty steel products from scrap.<sup>183</sup> The Brackenridge facility now includes the functions of a former plant in nearby Natrona, which operated until 2010.<sup>184</sup>

ATI, formerly known as Allegheny Ludlum, has been the target of at least 40 formal and informal clean air enforcement actions at its local facilities since 1990, according to U.S. EPA records.<sup>185</sup> Operations at the Brackenridge facility were allowed to exceed pollution limits for more than a decade. ACHD has also never issued the facility a Title V operating permit, a critical tool for enforcement and public accountability.

In 2002, ACHD issued installation permits for two new electric arc furnaces at ATI's Brackenridge facility. The permits did not include limits for several pollutants released by one portion of the facility, including sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, carbon monoxide and volatile organic compounds.<sup>186</sup> In a 2017 court filing, environmental organizations including PennEnvironment claimed that "Allegheny Ludlum failed to disclose the emissions of these pollutants" and, by so doing and emitting those pollutants to the air, "Allegheny Ludlum violated the ACHD Implementation Plan."<sup>187</sup>

Limits were set on other emissions from the plant's operations in the 2002 permits, but it is unclear whether ATI ever complied with many of them. According to a 2017 legal filing by ACHD, "from 2004 to the present, ATI exceeded on multiple recorded instances the ... emissions limits" in one of its permits and failed to meet requirements of another permit as well.<sup>188</sup> Emissions tests carried out in 2004, 2006 and 2011 showed that the Photo: Steve Ricciardi



ATI Flat Rolled Products, Brackenridge

furnaces released between 56 percent and 129 percent more sulfur dioxide annually than was allowed under the conditions of the permit.<sup>189</sup>

Even as the facility continued to violate its previous permits, ACHD moved in 2016 to relax the pollution limits in those permits, allowing emissions two to three times as high as had previously been allowed.<sup>190</sup>

In public, ACHD officials minimized the importance of ATI's emission limits. In 2016, Jim Kelly, then-acting deputy director of ACHD's environmental health bureau, told the *Pittsburgh Tribune-Review* that "The sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxide produced at ATI is not an issue and is minimal in comparison to other sources of pollution."<sup>191</sup> However, in 2017, ATI's Brackenridge facility produced 157 tons of nitrogen oxide (NO<sub>x</sub>) pollution, equivalent to 3 percent of NO<sub>x</sub> emissions from the county's largest industrial point sources of pollution, and 22 tons of sulfur dioxide emissions.<sup>192</sup> Allegheny County is still failing to attain national air quality standards for sulfur dioxide and for ozone (of which nitrogen oxides are a component), so any exceedance of permit limits at facilities such as ATI makes it more difficult for the county to meet its air quality goals.

ATI's reported toxic releases to the air also pose a greater health risk than any other industrial facility in Allegheny County, according to the U.S. EPA's Risk Screening Environmental Indicators.<sup>193</sup>

In March 2017, environmental organizations Environmental Integrity Project, Clean Air Council, Group Against Smog and Pollution and PennEnvironment filed notice of intent to sue ATI over its long history of violations at the Brackenridge facility.<sup>194</sup> Under the Clean Air Act, a notice of intent to sue must be filed 60 days before a citizen suit can be filed to enforce the law. The day after that 60-day period ended, ACHD filed its own lawsuit against the facility along with a simultaneous settlement of that lawsuit - an action that precluded the citizen suit from moving forward. That settlement required ATI to pay a \$50,000 fine, but also committed ATI to submitting revisions to several permit conditions that "present compliance issues."<sup>195</sup> The Environmental Integrity Project criticized the settlement as "toothless." "Instead of cracking down on

the pollution from Allegheny Ludlum's furnaces, the county wants to let the company off the hook through a revised permit," said Patton Dycus, the organization's senior attorney.<sup>196</sup>

The violations at the Brackenridge facility are not the only air quality problems resulting from ATI's operations in the Allegheny Valley. ATI is the supplier of slag (a nonmetallic byproduct of the steelmaking process) that has been the source of dust problems at the nearby Harsco Metals facility and ATI has been included as a responsible party along with Harsco in legal actions related to the problem.<sup>197</sup> (See "Harsco Metals," this page.)

In addition, as noted above, ATI was issued a \$1.6 million fine in 2010 as a result of legal action by ACHD and the U.S. EPA resulting from violations detected by a U.S. EPA inspection at its former Natrona facility in 2007. Violations included exceeding standards for visible pollutant emissions.<sup>198</sup> A 2007 notice of violation issued by the U.S. EPA for exceedances of limits on visible pollution from ATI's Natrona and Brackenridge plants highlighted the failure of previous enforcement efforts by ACHD to address visible emissions from the facility:

EPA is also aware that Respondents have received multiple Notices of Violation from ACHD for violations of the same requirement(s), and that prior settlements between ACHD and the Respondent have failed to bring Respondent back into compliance with the Pennsylvania SIP.<sup>199</sup>

As part of the 2010 settlement, the company agreed to close its Natrona facility, which was already scheduled to be closed in a planned consolidation of steelmaking at the company's Brackenridge site.<sup>200</sup> A health study at nearby Highlands High School in 2010 revealed levels of manganese and lead in outdoor air in excess of federal health guidelines – pollution that was strongly correlated with the operation of the now-closed melt shop at that facility.<sup>201</sup>

### Harsco Metals, Natrona

Dust from Harsco Metals' facility has coated cars, toys and houses in a nearby community for years – and the company acknowledges that it doesn't know how to solve the problem. Yet, for years, ACHD negotiated agreements with the facility and Harsco still remains without a required Title V clean air permit.

Harsco Metals processes slag (a byproduct of the steelmaking process) from the ATI Flat Rolled Products mill in neighboring Brackenridge (see page 26). The process produces dust that was known for years to coat cars, toys and houses in nearby neighborhoods. More than a decade of enforcement efforts by the Allegheny County Health Department did not stop the pollution.

Pollution from the Harsco facility has been a public health concern for years, due to significant emissions of cancer-causing substances (including chromium and lead) and neurotoxins (such as manganese).<sup>202</sup> The U.S. EPA rates the facility's toxic releases to the environment as posing a potential toxic risk 200 times as great as that of the typical industrial facility in Allegheny County and nearly 2,000 times as great as the median facility nationwide.<sup>203</sup>

Because the slag is processed in the open air, the dust often becomes airborne and contaminates nearby neighborhoods. After pressure from residents and the threat of legal action from the Group Against Smog and Pollution, ACHD forced Harsco to install equipment to control the dust in 2018, though it remains to be seen if that has fixed the problem.

Emissions escaping from the facility have been the target of environmental agencies for more than a decade.

In 2007, staff with the U.S. EPA and the ACHD inspected the Harsco facility and observed fugitive emissions from the slag dumping and cooling process.<sup>204</sup> In November 2007, the U.S. EPA issued a notice of violation to the facility for "fugitive air emissions from the slag dumping and handling process.<sup>205</sup>

Photo: Allegheny County Health Department



Dust from Harsco Metals' Natrona facility has coated nearby neighborhoods for years.

Two years later, the U.S. EPA and the ACHD ramped up the pressure against the facility by filing suit against Harsco and ATI, noting that the fugitive emissions were "not controlled or limited by any preventive measures."<sup>206</sup> The emissions included nitrogen oxides, volatile organic compounds, particulate pollution and hazardous air pollutants.<sup>207</sup>

Six months later, in April 2010, the agencies entered into a settlement with ATI and Harsco. The companies agreed to reduce the fugitive emissions by installing a fogger system and to pay a \$184,900 fine.<sup>208</sup>

After years of ongoing violations and dust emissions, in 2011, ACHD approved a modification to Harsco's permit that increased the amount of slag the facility was permitted to process, along with a resulting increase of particulate pollution.<sup>209</sup>

Meanwhile, the fugitive dust problem that drew attention from ACHD and U.S. EPA in 2007 remained unresolved. In February 2017, investigators with ACHD discovered dust on children's toys and play equipment in the Opal Court neighborhood of Natrona Heights. Even the inspectors' car, which was parked in the neighborhood for only an hour, was covered in slag dust. Local residents reported that Harsco representatives had visited the neighborhood to offer \$50 vouchers to pay for cleaning their vehicles, a clear indication that the company knew it was responsible for the problem.<sup>210</sup>

The next month, ACHD issued a notice of violation to the facility requesting that Harsco and ATI submit a "compliance plan which is aimed at eliminating the fallout particulate which has affected neighboring residential communities."<sup>211</sup> The department also issued a \$41,675 fine.

The facility did submit the compliance plan, but problems with dust fallout continued. ACHD inspectors observed evidence of dust fallout in the Opal Court neighborhood in May, June, August, September, October and December of 2017.<sup>212</sup> It took until April 2018, more than a year after ACHD required the company to submit a plan to eliminate the falling dust, for Harsco and ATI to report that a consultant had recommended the installation of a spray nozzle system to limit particulate emissions from the facility. However, the companies did not state when the system might be installed. Meanwhile, dust continued falling on the neighborhood.<sup>213</sup>

In May 2018, with no sure timeline in hand for installation of new emissions controls, the department issued another notice of violation – this time requiring Harsco/ATI to act quickly by submitting a revised compliance plan by the end of the following month and implementing it within 20 days of approval by the department. The increased urgency on the part of ACHD was noted by ATI in its request to the agency to delay the enforcement order.<sup>214</sup>

"[T]here was no need for ACHD to issue an order with such short-term deadlines. ACHD has been investigating alleged fallout particulate emissions from the Natrona Facility for years. Harsco and ATI have been cooperating in that investigation for years. The Order was altogether unexpected and, at least in terms of timing, is inconsistent with how ACHD has approached this matter in the past."<sup>215</sup>

Whether the current compliance plan will protect surrounding neighborhoods remains in question. In ATI's request for a stay of the 2018 notice of violation, the company argued that the slag reprocessing operation is inherently polluting and that it would be impossible for the company to prevent all particulate pollution from the activity. "Particulate matter emissions will almost certainly be generated from this process," the company argued. "Such emissions may remain on site or travel off site depending on factors such as wind patterns. It is therefore impossible to meet ACHD's 'eliminate all fallout particulate' standard."<sup>216</sup>

Beyond the continued pollution problems at Harsco, the facility is also one of several industrial facilities that have never been issued a Title V operating permit by ACHD. The department's most recent update of Title V permits, published in May 2019, notes that Harsco's 2018 application for a Title V permit remains "on hold pending enforcement action and proposed new control installation."<sup>217</sup>

Despite decades of enforcement actions by ACHD, problems with the Harsco Metals plant continue in 2019 and the slag processor still does not have a proper Title V operating permit. It is too soon to tell whether ACHD's change in enforcement approach will continue and will finally succeed in bringing an end to the falling dust that has plagued the Allegheny Valley for years.

### Eastman Chemicals and Resins, West Elizabeth

A chemical factory with a long history of violations of clean air rules, Eastman Chemicals is one of several industrial facilities in Allegheny County that continue to operate without a federally required Title V operating permit. The permit is one of two the U.S. EPA specifically recommended that ACHD "expediently issue" in a 2017 review.

Eastman Chemicals and Resins has been operating its Jefferson Hills facility since it acquired the site from Hercules Inc. in 2001. The facility produces a variety of products, including "hydrocarbon resins and dispersions used primarily in hot melt adhesives, rubber and plastic compounding, coatings, sealants and plastic modification."<sup>218</sup> While Eastman is classified as a major source of volatile organic compounds (VOCs), nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) and toxic air pollutants, it has never been issued a Title V permit – a critical tool for public accountability and effective enforcement.<sup>219</sup> Eastman is an example of ACHD's long-time struggles to issue and renew Title V permits in a timely manner, and to hold industrial polluters accountable for their pollution.

Despite reducing its VOC emissions significantly since 2001, Eastman remains a significant source of VOCs, producing 23 percent of VOC emissions from Allegheny County's largest industrial point sources of pollution in 2017.<sup>220</sup>

The facility has a long history of violations of clean air rules, resulting in a string of formal and informal enforcement actions. U.S. EPA records show formal or informal enforcement actions against the facility in 1995, 2003, 2005 and 2009. The 2005 U.S. EPA notice of violation documented exceedances of permit limits for VOCs stretching back as far as 1994 and found that the company had not been operating equipment as required in its installation permits.<sup>221</sup>

In 2008, ACHD ordered Eastman to permanently stop using four of its VOC storage tanks to decrease potential emissions of VOCs.<sup>222</sup>

```
Photo: Zachary Barber
```



Eastman Chemicals and Resins, West Elizabeth, PA

Despite these actions, problems at the facility continued, prompting a 2011 lawsuit filed by the U.S. EPA and ACHD. The lawsuit detailed Eastman Chemical's decade-long failure to adhere to the conditions of its emissions permits – enabling excessive VOCs to escape into the region's air.<sup>223</sup>

In September 2011, the U.S. EPA, ACHD and Eastman Chemical reached a consent agreement to resolve the lawsuit.<sup>224</sup> The agreement required Eastman to "install pollution control equipment, perform VOC emissions testing, perform monitoring, maintain records, and submit reports and permit applications to the United States and the Allegheny County Health Department."<sup>225</sup> It also required Eastman to pay two \$316,000 penalties, one to the U.S. Treasury and one to the Allegheny County Clean Air Fund.

Eight years after the resolution of the lawsuit, ACHD has still not issued Eastman Chemical a required Title V permit and the facility continues to struggle to implement the terms of the consent agreement. According to public comments filed by the Group Against Smog and Pollution (GASP) in February 2019, Eastman appears not to have completed all the emissions testing nor to have filed all the permit applications required under the consent agreement.<sup>226</sup> GASP has urged ACHD to reject Eastman's application to increase production and emissions from one of its units until the company is in full compliance with the terms of the consent order.<sup>227</sup>

ACHD reports that it expects to issue the remaining permit applications to comply with the consent order by the end of 2019, to receive an application from Eastman Chemical for a Title V permit by May 2020 and to issue the Title V permit by the end of 2020.<sup>228</sup>

Eastman Chemical is not the only Allegheny County industrial facility to go many years without a required Title V permit. A U.S. EPA audit conducted in 2017 found that ACHD had "a significant percentage of Title V permits which are administratively extended or backlogged," noting that ACHD had delayed issuing initial Title V permits for Eastman and another facility due to ongoing enforcement issues. The U.S. EPA urged ACHD to "expediently issue these permits."<sup>229</sup>

As the 2011 lawsuit documented, Eastman Chemical had a demonstrated record going back to at least 2001 of violating the terms of its air pollution permits. And yet, 18 years later, the facility remains without a Title V operating permit and Allegheny County residents cannot be confident that the facility is being operated in a way that is maximally protective of public health. While ACHD has a plan in place to expedite the permitting process, the history of the department's treatment of Eastman Chemical is consistent with its track record of slow responses to air pollution threats from the county's industrial facilities.

#### McConway & Torley, Pittsburgh

A steel foundry located in the densely populated Lawrenceville neighborhood of Pittsburgh has released toxic manganese into the community's air for decades. Yet, it took years for ACHD to issue the facility a proper permit. Despite ACHD's recent willingness to insist on the facility's adherence to emissions limits, concerns about odors and spikes in manganese emissions from the plant continue.

McConway & Torley (M&T) has operated a foundry manufacturing railroad equipment in the Lawrenceville section of Pittsburgh since just after the Civil War. Today, the foundry sits in a densely populated area of Pittsburgh, with more than 150,000 people within a three-mile radius.<sup>230</sup> The foundry has been a consistent source of emissions of manganese, a neurotoxin, and other pollutants, as well as odors that are a consistent source of complaints by neighboring residents.<sup>231</sup>

Facing complaints from neighboring residents and public health advocates, both the company and the Allegheny County Health Department have taken steps designed to limit pollution from the facility, but it took years for ACHD to finalize an operating permit for the facility.

McConway & Torley applied for an operating permit from ACHD as a "minor" air pollution source in 1996.<sup>232</sup> (So-called "minor" sources of pollution are generally not required to have Title V operating permits and face less stringent standards for emission control technology designed to limit releases of air toxics.)

The company has long been a source of pollution in the community. U.S. EPA records show air releases of manganese from McConway & Torley since at least 1989.<sup>233</sup> McConway & Torley ranked eighth out of 51 Allegheny County facilities for the toxic risk posed by its air emissions under the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's Risk Screening Environmental Indicators (RSEI) metric for 2017.<sup>234</sup>

In 2010, as the facility was applying to ACHD for permission to reactivate an electric arc furnace, air monitoring by ACHD found manganese concentrations in the surrounding area that exceeded federal health risk benchmarks.<sup>235</sup> ACHD began regular monitoring of levels of three toxic metals – manganese, lead and chromium – at the edge of the facility's property, monitoring that continues to the present day.

For roughly the next five years – until the fourth quarter of 2015 – levels of manganese in the air outside the facility often remained above federal health guidelines.<sup>236</sup> And while levels of lead near the facility never exceeded federal air quality standards, public health experts agree that there is no safe level of exposure to lead – particularly for children, for whom any level of exposure to lead presents an increased risk of developmental and neurological problems.<sup>237</sup>

Even as health-threatening levels of pollution from the facility continued, ACHD moved in January 2011 to approve a permit for reactivation of the electric arc furnace.<sup>238</sup> The decision was appealed by the Group Against Smog and Pollution (GASP). The appeal prompted an agreement between McConway & Torley and GASP that allowed the reactivation of the furnace but with the installation of additional pollution controls to curb releases of metals and particulate matter from the plant.<sup>239</sup>

Photo: Paul Chamberlain CC-BY-NC-SA 2.0



McConway & Torley Foundry

Despite the agreement, concerns about pollution from the plant continued. In 2012, the facility failed a stack test for numerous pollutants, and did so again the following year, though with lower levels of pollution.<sup>240</sup> And in 2014, a revision of how emissions at the facility were calculated led to a dramatic increase in pollution estimates and the possible reclassification of the facility as a "major source" – triggering additional requirements, including the need to obtain a Title V operating permit.<sup>241</sup>

In order to remain classified as a minor source of pollution, ACHD estimated that the facility would have to dramatically scale back steel production – from a maximum of 92,500 tons per year to only 21,250 tons per year. In 2015, ACHD issued a revised draft permit with the lower production limits.<sup>242</sup> The strict new proposed permit – along with continued advocacy for clean air by local residents – clearly got the company's attention.

McConway & Torley ensured that fugitive emissions were unable to escape the facility by sealing the building and creating negative air pressure through the continuous operation of emission control equipment.<sup>243</sup> After demonstrating to the satisfaction of ACHD that emissions were not escaping from its factory building except through the emissions control system, a new draft permit was issued in 2017 restoring the 92,500 ton per year production limit, though with lower permitted levels of many key pollutants, including manganese.<sup>244</sup> The permit was approved in October 2018, though McConway & Torley appealed several of the permit's conditions.<sup>245</sup>

While the long process of issuing an operating permit to the facility appears to be nearly over, concerns about air pollution in the community remain. In the second quarter of 2018 and again in the first quarter of 2019, average levels of manganese in the air exceeded the federal government's standard for health concerns, the first such exceedances since 2015.<sup>246</sup> The community remains concerned about such periodic spikes in manganese concentrations and has called on ACHD to investigate the cause and to maintain fenceline monitoring of manganese levels, which the department had originally proposed to discontinue during negotiations over McConway & Torley's new permit.

Concerns about odors from the plant also continue. Between January and early June 2019, McConway & Torley was the subject of at least 26 odor complaints submitted through the "Smell Pittsburgh" app – a smartphone app developed by a team from Carnegie Mellon University that enables local residents to report odors.<sup>247</sup> Among the complaints was the following from April 10, 2019: "Sickening burning, toxic smell from McConway and Torley. Why is this allowed to happen?"

#### Allied Waste Imperial Landfill, Imperial

A landfill in western Allegheny County produced odors that prompted complaints from teachers and students at a nearby elementary school. A health study and enforcement action by the Pennsylvania DEP and ACHD led to significant fines and operational changes at the facility to address the odor problem, though concerns remain.

Allied Waste Systems' Imperial Landfill in Findlay Township covers roughly 803 acres, with 10 disposal areas and a landfill gas collection system.<sup>248</sup> The facility has received more than 22 million tons of waste since 1973.<sup>249</sup> The landfill is located just a quarter-mile away from Wilson Elementary School, which serves more than 500 students from kindergarten through fifth grade.<sup>250</sup>

Growing complaints about odors, headaches and other health problems at the school – and a federal health study that identified concerning levels of air pollutants on the school property – led state officials, and eventually ACHD, to take actions that brought about improvements at the landfill. Even today, however, pollution concerns remain and, as with several facilities in Allegheny County, ACHD is years behind in issuing a revised Title V pollution permit that would better protect the public's health.

Landfills are not always the best of neighbors. Complaints about odors and blowing trash at the Imperial facility date back to at least the late 1990s.<sup>251</sup> In 2004, a consent order between the U.S. EPA and the land-fill's former owner addressed excessive emissions of methane and the company's failure to properly monitor pollution from the facility.<sup>252</sup>

In early 2009, however, complaints about odors reaching Wilson Elementary School triggered a string of actions that eventually led to changes at the landfill. Students and faculty at the school reported that bad odors from the landfill had become more frequent and severe during the winter of 2008-2009, and complained of "headaches, nausea, sinus issues, throat problems and 'a feeling of being drugged."<sup>253</sup> By January 2009, complaints about odors had reached the Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection (DEP).<sup>254</sup> PA DEP issued notices of violation to the facility in April, June, August and October as a result of off-site odors.<sup>255</sup>

In April 2009, a petition was filed asking for a public health assessment of the health risks caused by odors from the landfill at the elementary school.<sup>256</sup>

The health assessment, conducted by the U.S. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) and completed in March 2010, found elevated concentrations of methyl mercaptan and methylamine in the school's parking lot that created the "potential for an acute public health hazard." While the assessment did not find potentially hazardous concentrations of other chemicals, some were detected at levels that could cause offensive odors, which can lead to headaches, nausea, watery eyes, and respiratory irritation and coughing. The assessment's results were reinforced by a survey conducted by ACHD, which noted a significant correlation between instances of people at the school reporting strong odors and the frequency of throat irritation and headaches.<sup>257</sup>

Even as the ATSDR evaluation was proceeding, complaints about odors continued. Nearly 100 separate complaints regarding odors from the landfill

## **Improving Clean Air Enforcement:** Lessons from the Case Studies

Ilegheny County residents deserve clean air. The Clean Air Act and other environmental protections provide a framework to reduce health-threatening pollution and protect public health.

Those laws are only as effective, however, as the agencies that enforce them. The U.S. EPA's history of delegating authority for environmental enforcement to states – and the hands-off approach it has taken overseeing state and local agencies to which it has delegated that authority – has often resulted in lack-luster efforts to protect public health.<sup>267</sup>

Allegheny County has historically been no exception. Over the course of decades, the Allegheny County Health Department has been slow to issue legally required permits to polluting industrial facilities, been slow to act when the terms of those permits have been violated, and has often relied on negotiated agreements, rather than aggressive enforcement, to bring industrial facilities into compliance with the law. ACHD continued this approach despite its evident failure – failure that can be marked both in the continuing violations of clean air rules by major polluters in Allegheny County and by the persistent air pollution that puts the health of county residents at risk.

To live up to its responsibility to Allegheny County residents, ACHD needs a new approach to clean air

enforcement – one that begins with issuing permits in a timely manner with tough limits on air pollution that protect public health; holds polluters accountable for following the law and issues credible, prompt, fair penalties when they don't; and invites the public in as a partner in cleaning the region's air through public education and engagement.

ACHD has publicly acknowledged that elements of its previous approach to enforcement have not worked. According to the department's website:

Thanks to an expanded legal team, over the last two years, ACHD has ramped up its enforcement efforts in several ways, *including leaving behind negotiated consent orders because progress wasn't being seen, and issuing direct enforcement orders and civil penalties.* (emphasis added)<sup>268</sup>

There are clear best practices ACHD can use to protect public health. And after decades of slow progress that has left many Allegheny County residents continuing to breathe unhealthy air, ACHD must continue to accelerate efforts to hold the county's polluters accountable.

PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center recommends that ACHD take the following steps to fulfill its mission to faithfully enforce environmental laws and to protect the health of Allegheny County residents.

### Issue Timely, Health-Based Air Quality Permits

Several Allegheny County industrial facilities have been without legally required Title V operating permits for decades. ACHD's failure to fulfill its permitting responsibilities has left the public without critical tools for holding polluters accountable and has reduced the department's credibility as a regulator. In a 2017 evaluation of ACHD's Title V program, the U.S. EPA noted that there was a substantial backlog – 41 percent – of Title V permits needing approval from ACHD.<sup>269</sup>

While the U.S. EPA did note ACHD's recent progress in issuing Title V permits, a backlog persists. As of May 2019, ACHD lists 32 facilities as requiring a Title V permit. Of those, four have never received a permit, and six have permits that are overdue for renewal.<sup>270</sup>

ACHD should work to eliminate the backlog of Title V operating permits while maintaining its ability to issue other critical air pollution permits and to enforce the law. To achieve that goal, ACHD may require additional staff - the 2017 U.S. EPA review noted that it was an "unreasonable expectation" that ACHD's current staff could maintain the department's existing programs while whittling down the Title V permit backlog.<sup>271</sup> The U.S. EPA review suggested that, like other agencies around the country, ACHD was suffering from a lack of resources as a result of a reduction in Title V fees paid by regulated air polluters. PA DEP has proposed an increase in Title V fees to generate additional funds for enforcement while continuing to ensure that responsible polluters - and not the public - pick up the cost of regulation.

In addition to ensuring that permits are issued in a timely manner, ACHD should work to ensure that the permits that are issued are maximally protective of public health.

#### Take Timely, Aggressive Enforcement Action to Hold Polluters Accountable

Consent orders and negotiated settlements can sometimes protect air quality by enlisting industrial facilities as partners in developing effective strategies for air pollution control.

Negotiated agreements, however, are only effective when they are sufficient to protect public health and when industrial facilities uphold their end of the agreement. Ensuring that industrial polluters fulfill their commitments requires the credible threat of penalty if they don't. Moreover, a credible threat of enforcement action helps convey the message to other polluters in the area that they cannot violate the terms of their permits or negotiated agreements without facing significant penalties.

There are other powers ACHD possesses that the agency has rarely, if ever, used to bring polluting facilities into compliance with the law. The county's Article XXI regulations give ACHD the power to "restrain or enjoin immediately and effectively any person from engaging in any activity in violation of a regulation or permit that is presenting an imminent and substantial endangerment to the public health or welfare, or the environment."<sup>272</sup> Article XXI also gives the department power to revoke installation or operating permits under many conditions.

For more than four decades, ACHD has relied in large part on negotiated agreements with major polluters to reduce air pollution in Allegheny County. But continued violations of those agreements by major polluters, coupled with continuing air quality challenges in Allegheny County, cry out for a new approach.

In several instances in recent years, ACHD has moved away from negotiated settlements, imposing strong civil penalties and compelling industrial facilities to take immediate actions to cut pollution. In the emergency order issued after the June 2019 fire at Clairton Coke Works, the department even held out the possibility of forcing U.S. Steel to cease coke-making operations if it could not address pollution from the facility within a defined length of time.<sup>273</sup> ACHD should use its powers to create a credible deterrent to illegal pollution and hold industrial facilities to the terms of their pollution permits.

In some instances, additional authority under state law would enable ACHD to become a more effective regulator. ACHD and clean air advocates have made the following suggestions for improvements at the state level:

- Update the air pollution episode criteria standards in state law to allow ACHD to take more aggressive action whenever air pollution threatens public health.
- Affirm ACHD's authority to shut down industrial facilities immediately if pollution levels at nearby monitors indicate a threat to public health.
- Require industrial facilities to notify the public within 24 hours when accidents occur that threaten public health.
- Increase maximum penalties for air pollution violations.<sup>274</sup>

### Expand and Improve Air Quality Monitoring

Air quality monitoring is a critical tool for protecting public health. It is also useful for enforcement. The detection by air monitors in the Mon Valley of healththreatening levels of sulfur dioxide following the 2018 fire at the Clairton Coke Works demonstrated to ACHD that U.S. Steel's strategy to reduce the pollution threat from its plants was not working.<sup>275</sup>

Monitoring can also ensure that existing air pollution controls are working to protect public health. Concerns about exposure to manganese detected by fenceline monitoring at the McConway & Torley foundry in Lawrenceville, as well as recent studies documenting the local impacts of emissions from facilities like U.S. Steel's Edgar Thomson Plant and Clairton Coke Works, demonstrate that Allegheny County residents deserve more thorough, complete and timely information about the presence of healththreatening air pollution in their neighborhoods.

Advances in technology also put the power to monitor air quality within the hands of local organizations, residents and others, generating valuable information that can inform efforts to protect air quality.

ACHD should continue and expand monitoring programs in areas where pollution has been a public health concern. The department should also work to create a two-way flow of information between residents and community organizations monitoring air guality and the department itself, to ensure that the department has the information it needs to quickly identify public health threats and violations of the law and ensure that residents are fully aware of the quality of the air they breathe. An abundance of local, real-time air quality data, such as Carnegie Mel-Ion University's Smell Pittsburgh app and a network of low-cost Purple Air monitors, should make such collaboration easier than ever. All monitoring data should be made available to the public in forms that are easily accessible, including online.

#### Partner with the Public and Other Agencies to Protect Allegheny County's Air

ACHD's decision to join a citizen lawsuit against U.S. Steel for pollution from the Clairton Coke Works marked an important watershed in the department's approach to enforcing the law. In recent years, ACHD has leveraged resources from non-profits and state and federal law enforcement agencies to increase its ability to take enforcement actions against polluters. Those efforts should continue.

ACHD should also employ new and novel tools to communicate both the status of the county's air and the performance of individual facilities to members of the public who may not be experts in air quality issues. Allegheny County residents are familiar with ACHD placards found on the front of restaurants, which indicate whether eating at a restaurant might put a person's health at risk. The county should develop a similar, consumer-friendly tool to communicate whether living, working or playing near a major industrial polluter threatens to put a resident's health at risk. Such tools can help county residents be fuller, better educated participants in efforts to improve Allegheny County's air quality and make it more likely that residents will know where to turn when odors, dust or health symptoms indicate that a nearby industrial facility is operating in ways that jeopardize public health.

## CONSUMER ALERT

Conditions May Pose A Health Risk To The Consumer



Food Safety Program www.achd.net/food 412.687.ACHD (2243)

The Allegheny County Health Department's ratings of restaurant safety – posted in full view on the restaurants themselves – are a wellknown source of vital public health information to county residents. Development of a similar, publicfacing rating system for industrial air polluters could help residents to understand how pollution may put their health at risk and take action to protect the health of their communities.

### Notes

1. Elizabeth Ridlington and Christy Leavitt, Environment America Research & Policy Center and Frontier Group, *Trouble in the Air: Millions of Americans Breathe Polluted Air,* Summer 2018, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190605005355/https://frontiergroup.org/sites/ default/files/reports/Trouble%20in%20the%20Air%20-%20 Frontier%20Group%20-%20June%202018.pdf.

2. American Lung Association, *State of the Air 2019, City Rankings: Pittsburgh-New Castle-Weirton, PA-OH-WV,* accessed at https://web.archive.org/web/20190719181321/ https://www.lung.org/our-initiatives/healthy-air/sota/cityrankings/msas/pittsburgh-new-castle-weirton-pa-oh-wv. html, 4 June 2019.

3. Clean Water Action and Clean Water Fund, Unfulfilled Promises: Failing to Protect Mon Valley Residents from Unhealthy Air, May 2019, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190506204503/https://www.cleanwater.org/ sites/default/files/Mon%20Valley%20report%20May%20 2019%20FINAL.pdf; Drew Michanowicz et al., Center for Healthy Environments and Communities, Pittsburgh Regional Environmental Threats Analysis (PRETA) Report: Hazardous Air Pollutants, August 2013, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190506205003/http://www.chec.pitt.edu/ documents/PRETA/CHEC%20PRETA%20HAPs%20Report.pdf.

4. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *National Air Toxics Assessment 2014, NATA National Cancer Risk by Source Group,* accessed 23 May 2019 at https://www.epa.gov/sites/ production/files/2018-08/nata2014v2\_national\_cancerrisk\_ by\_tract\_srcgrp.xlsx.

5. Kevin R. Cromar, Laura A. Gladson and Gary Ewart, "Trends in Excess Morbidity and Mortality Associated with Air Pollution Above American Thoracic Society-Recommended Standards, 2008-2017," *Annals of the American Thoracic Society*, 2019, in press, DOI:10.1513/ AnnalsATS.201812-914OC. Data available at: https:// healthoftheair.org/rankings.

6. Allegheny Health Network, *Study of Local Schoolchildren Reveals "Alarming" Rates of Uncontrolled Asthma, Exposure to Industrial Point Sources of Air Pollution,* 8 September 2017, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190605002051/https://www.ahn.org/news/9-8-2017/study-local-schoolchildren-reveals-alarming-ratesuncontrolled-asthma-exposure-to.

7. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *National Emissions Inventory 2014, National County/Tribe Aggregated* – *Sector File*, downloaded from ftp://newftp.epa.gov/air/ nei/2014/data\_summaries/2014v2/2014neiv2\_county\_ tribe\_allsector.zip, 27 March 2019.

8.32 percent. See note 4.

 Brett J. Tunno et al., "Understanding Intra-Neighborhood Patterns in PM<sub>2.5</sub> and PM<sub>10</sub> Using Mobile Monitoring in Braddock, PA," *Environmental Health* 11(76), 10 October 2012, DOI:10.1186/1476-069X-11-76.

10. Excluding diesel pollution. Drew Michanowicz et al., Center for Healthy Environments and Communities, *Pittsburgh Regional Environmental Threats Analysis (PRETA) Report: Hazardous Air Pollutants*, August 2013, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190506205003/http:// www.chec.pitt.edu/documents/PRETA/CHEC%20PRETA%20 HAPs%20Report.pdf.

11. Allegheny County Health Department, *Highlands High School, Natrona, PA, Health Study*, 8 December 2010, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190605001428/ https://www.alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/ Allegheny\_Home/Health\_Department/Resources/Data\_ and\_Reporting/Air\_Quality\_Reports/Archive-Highlands-High-School-Study-2010.pdf. 12. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Integrated Compliance Information System – Air, USS/Clairton Works,* accessed at https://ofmpub.epa.gov/enviro/airsquery.detail\_ plt\_view?p\_id=PAACH0004200300032, 6 May 2019.

13. 14 weeks: Don Hopey, "U.S. Steel: The Desulfurization System Damaged in December Fired Up and Working Again," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 4 April 2019, archived at https://web. archive.org/web/20190507130828/https://www.post-gazette. com/news/environment/2019/04/04/US-Steel-Clairtoncoke-works-desulfurization-system-fire-repaired-workingemissions-pollution/stories/201904040101; outdoor activity: Allegheny County, *Mon-Valley Residents Urged to Limit Outdoor Activities Due to Air Quality Concerns* (press release), 9 January 2019.

14. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 3, Notice of Violation/Notice of Noncompliance in the Matter of United States Steel Corporation Edgar Thomson Plant, docket no. CAA-III-18-0002, 9 November 2017.

15. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Integrated Compliance Information System – Air, Allegheny Ludlum LLC/ Brackenridge,* accessed at https://ofmpub.epa.gov/enviro/ airsquery.detail\_plt\_view?p\_id=PAACH0004200300093, 5 June 2019.

16. Allegheny County Court of Common Pleas, *County* of Allegheny v. ATI Flat Rolled Products, LLC, and Allegheny Ludlum, LLC, Consent Judgment, 22 May 2017.

17. "Typical" describes the median facility in Allegheny County among facilities required to report to the Toxics Release Inventory. 2016 data. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Envirofacts: Toxics Release Inventory, Risk Screening Environmental Indicators (RSEI) Search, Harsco Metals* – *Natrona*, TRI ID 15065HCKTTFEDER, accessed at https:// ofmpub.epa.gov/enviro/rsei.html?facid=15065HCKTTFEDER, 21 February 2019.

18. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region 3, Allegheny County Health Department Title V Program Evaluation, 15 August 2017, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190430180905/https://www.alleghenycounty. us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/Health\_Department/ Programs/Air\_Quality/EPA%20Title%20V%20program%20 evaluation%20final%20report.pdf. 19. Allegheny County Health Department, *Lawrenceville Air Toxic Metals Study*, updated 12 March 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190412142021/https:// www.alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/ Health\_Department/Resources/Data\_and\_Reporting/Air\_ Quality\_Reports/031219-Lawrenceville-Toxic-Metals.pdf.

20. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry and the Pennsylvania Department of Health, *Letter Health Consultation: Imperial Landfill Site*, 17 May 2010, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190409221953/https:// www.atsdr.cdc.gov/hac/pha/ImperialLandfillSite/Imperial\_ Landfill\_Site%20LHC%205-17-2010.pdf.

21. See note 14.

22. Allegheny County Health Department, ACHD and EPA Issue Notice of Violation for U.S. Steel's Edgar Thomson Plant (press release), 14 November 2017.

23. Allegheny County Health Department, ATI Flat Rolled Products Holdings, LLC v. Allegheny County Health Department, In Re: Appeal of Administrative Order Issued to Harsco Metals and ATI Flat Rolled Products Holdings, LLC: Petition for Stay, 28 June 2018, archived at https://web. archive.org/web/20190725142202/https://alleghenycounty. us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/Health\_Department/ Resources/Legal/Docket/ATI-Harsco-Petition-For-Stay.pdf.

24. Allegheny County Health Department, *Settlement* Agreement and Order in the Matter of United States Steel Corporation – Mon Valley Works [Draft], 27 June 2019.

25. Melanie Meade, personal communication with Zachary Barber, 2 July 2019.

26. Brian Bienkowski, "Coke Plant Pollution Linked to 'Asthma Epidemic' in Pittsburgh-Area Elementary School," *Environmental Health News*, 27 February 2018, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190506205233/ https://www.ehn.org/asthma-near-clairton-cokeplant-2539978896.html.

27. Allegheny County Health Department, Air Quality, accessed 6 June 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190606130744/https://www.alleghenycounty.us/ Health-Department/Programs/Air-Quality/Air-Quality.aspx.

51. Gary Rotstein, "New Trends in Aging Demographics Hit Allegheny County," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 1 December 2014.

52. Drew Michanowicz et al., Center for Healthy Environments and Communities, *Pittsburgh Regional Environmental Threats Analysis (PRETA) Report: Hazardous Air Pollutants*, August 2013, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190506205003/http://www.chec.pitt.edu/ documents/PRETA/CHEC%20PRETA%20HAPs%20Report.pdf.

53. Jeff Inglis and Adam Garber, PennEnvironment Research & Policy Center, *Toxic Ten: The Allegheny County Polluters that Are Fouling Our Air and Threatening Our Health,* Fall 2015, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190705144855/https://frontiergroup.org/sites/ default/files/reports/Toxic%20Ten%20vWeb.pdf.

54. Dan Hopey and David Templeton, "Mortality and Pollution Rates Are High in Western Pennsylvania," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 13 December 2010.

55. See note 4; U.S. EPA health benchmark is one cancer case for every million people, source: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *National Air Toxics Assessment, NATA Frequent Questions,* 19 July 2019, archived at https://web. archive.org/web/20190719181948/https://www.epa.gov/ national-air-toxics-assessment/nata-frequent-questions.

56. Ibid. Data for census tracts 42003980800 and 42003981200 in Pittsburgh were unavailable in the downloaded dataset.

57. U.S. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, *Environmental Odors: Frequently Asked Questions,* accessed 6 June 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190606124145/https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/odors/ faqs.html.

58. Allegheny County Health Department, Rules and Regulations, Article XXI, Air Pollution Control, Section 2104.04(a), as amended through 21 February 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190606123449/https:// www.alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/ Health\_Department/Article-21-Air-Pollution-Control.pdf.

59. Smell Pittsburgh, *SmellPGH Reports* (csv data file), accessed at https://smellpgh.org/data.html, 6 June 2019.

60. Allegheny County Health Department, *Open Burning in Allegheny County*, https://alleghenycounty.us/Health-Department/Programs/Air-Quality/Open-Burning/Open-Burning-in-Allegheny-County.aspx.

- 61. See note 7.
- 62. See note 4.

63. See note 7. "Industrial" emissions include emissions from the following Tier 1 emission categories: chemical & allied product manufacturing; fuel combustion industrial; metals processing; other industrial processes; petroleum & related industries.

64. Marie Kelly, Allegheny County Health Department, *Point Source Emission Inventory Report 2015, 2016 and 2017,* undated, accessed at https://www.alleghenycounty. us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/Health\_Department/ Resources/Data\_and\_Reporting/Air\_Quality\_Reports/2015-2017-Emission-Inventory-Report.pdf, 24 June 2019.

65. Ibid. Note: electric power plants such as Cheswick are included as industrial point sources in the Allegheny County emissions inventory, but are given their own category in the National Emissions Inventory data used in Figure 2 on page 12.

66. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, TRI EZ Search for air releases for Allegheny County, PA, accessed at https:// www.epa.gov/enviro/tri-ez-search, 17 July 2019.

67. Ibid.

68. Nitrogen oxides and VOC: Mike Wereschagin, "Mobile Source Pollution," *Pittsburgh Quarterly*, Winter 2018, accessed at https://pittsburghquarterly.com/ pq-environment/pq-environment/item/1600-mobile-sourcepollution.html; carbon monoxide: Allegheny County Health Department, *2015 Five-Year Monitoring Network Assessment*, *109, 1 July 2015,* accessed at https://www3.epa.gov/ttnamti1/ files/networkplans/PAalleghenyassess2015.pdf.

69. Allegheny County Health Department, *2015 Five-Year Monitoring Network Assessment*, 109, 1 July 2015, accessed at https://www3.epa.gov/ttnamti1/files/networkplans/ PAalleghenyassess2015.pdf.

70. See note 53.

71. Marie Kelly and Gary Fischman, Allegheny County Health Department, *Point Source Emission Inventory Report 2014*, undated, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190705145028/https://www.alleghenycounty. us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/Health\_Department/ Resources/Data\_and\_Reporting/Air\_Quality\_Reports/2014\_ Emissions\_Inventory\_Report.pdf.

72. Sarah Boden, "Dropping Childhood Asthma Rates Correlate with Closing of Shenango Coke Works," *WESA. com,* 15 May 2018, accessed at https://www.wesa.fm/ post/dropping-childhood-asthma-rates-correlate-closingshenango-coke-works.

73. Kristina Marusic, "ER Visits for Asthma Dropped 38% the Year after One of Pittsburgh's Biggest Polluters Shut Down," *Environmental Health News*, 8 May 2018, accessed at https://www.ehn.org/shenango-coke-works-closed-asthmadropped-2566777141.html.

74. United States Environmental Protection Agency, *Regulatory Information by Topic: Air,* accessed at https:// www.epa.gov/regulatory-information-topic/regulatoryinformation-topic-air, 19 July 2019.

75. United States Environmental Protection Agency, *Basic Information about Air Quality SIPs*, accessed at https://www. epa.gov/sips/basic-information-air-quality-sips, 19 July 2019.

76. See note 74.

77. Specific regulations: United States Environmental Protection Agency, *New Source Performance Standards*, accessed at https://www.epa.gov/stationary-sourcesair-pollution/new-source-performance-standards, 19 July 2019; Enforcement: United States Environmental Protection Agency, *Demonstrating Compliance with New Source Performance Standards and State Implementation Plans*, accessed at https://www.epa.gov/compliance/ demonstrating-compliance-new-source-performancestandards-and-state-implementation-plans, 19 July 2019.

78. United States Environmental Protection Agency, *Learn About New Source Review*, accessed at https://www.epa.gov/ nsr/learn-about-new-source-review, 22 February 2019. 79. Pittsburgh Quarterly Staff, "Air Regulation: A Primer," *Pittsburgh Quarterly*, Winter 2018, accessed at https:// pittsburghquarterly.com/pq-environment/pq-environment/ item/1601-air-quality-regulation-a-primer.html.

80. Clean Air Council, *Commonwealth and County Regulations,* archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190719182406/http://pacokeovens.org/how-is-cokeregulated/commonwealth-and-county-regulations/.

81. Group Against Smog and Pollution, *Air Permits Clearinghouse*, 5 June 2019, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190605013220/https://gasp-pgh.org/projects/ air-permits-clearinghouse/.

82. United States Environmental Protection Agency, Who Has to Obtain a Title V Permit, accessed at https:// www.epa.gov/title-v-operating-permits/who-has-obtaintitle-v-permit, 21 February 2019.

83. Allegheny County Health Department, *Title V Operating Permits*, accessed at https://www. alleghenycounty.us/Health-Department/Programs/Air-Quality/Title-V-Operating-Permits.aspx, 19 July 2019.

84. Claudia Copeland, Congressional Research Service, *Clean Air Permitting: Implementation and Issues*, 1 September 2016, accessed at https://fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/ RL33632.pdf.

85. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *EPA Issued Operating Permits*, accessed 19 July 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190719182859/https:// www.epa.gov/title-v-operating-permits/epa-issuedoperating-permits.

86. Group Against Smog and Pollution, *Environmental Protection Agency Finds Room for Improvement with Allegheny County's Title V Permit Program*, 21 August 2018, accessed at https://gasp-pgh.org/2018/08/21/ environmental-protection-finds-room-for-improvementwith-allegheny-countys-title-v-operating-permit-program/.

87. See note 79.

88. Ibid. See, for example, Allegheny County: The Department of Environmental Protection, *Allegheny County Air Quality Program Approval with Conditions*, accessed at http://files.dep.state.pa.us/Air/AirQuality/AQPortalFiles/ Regulations%20and%20Clean%20Air%20Plans/plans/plans/ lead/Att\_3\_allegheny\_plan\_approval.pdf, undated.

89. Social Networks and Archival Context, *Allegheny County (Pa.) Bureau of Air Pollution Control*, undated, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190605013539/https:// snaccooperative.org/ark:/99166/w6s805rn.

90. United States Environmental Protection Agency, "EPA Approved Regulations in the Pennsylvania SIP," accessed at https://www.epa.gov/sips-pa/epa-approved-regulationspennsylvania-sip, 19 July 2019.

91. Allegheny County Health Department, "Allegheny County Health Department Rules and Regulations, Article XXI Air Pollution Control," Part D, 3 March 2019, accessed at https:// www.alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/ Health\_Department/Article-21-Air-Pollution-Control.pdf.

92. Ibid., Part E.

93. Ibid., §2105.06.

94. See note 74.

95. See note 91, §2101.11.

96. Ibid., §2101.11.

97. Ibid., Part I.

98. Ibid., §2109.02.

99. Ibid., §2103.15(c).

100. lbid., §2102.04(k)(2).

101. Ibid., §2109.02.

102. lbid., §2109.03(a)(1).

103. Stephen Caruso, "A Clash Over How Allegheny County Should Spend Millions Collected from the Region's Polluters," *Public Source*, 19 March 2018, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190605014723/https://www.publicsource.org/aclash-over-how-allegheny-county-should-spend-millionscollected-from-the-regions-polluters/. 104. Group Against Smog and Pollution, Allegheny County Health Department Responds to "State of the Air" Report, 30 April 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/ save/https://gasp-pgh.org/2019/04/30/allegheny-countyhealth-department-responds-to-state-of-the-air-report/.

105. See note 90.

106. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Findings of Failure to Submit State Implementation Plan Submissions for the 2012 Fine Particulate Matter National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS)," *Federal Register*, 83 Fed. Reg. 67, 14759, 6 April 2018.

107. Ibid.

108. Net earnings: U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, *Form 10-K Annual Report for Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2018, United States Steel Corporation,* archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190605210422/https:// www.ussteel.com/sites/default/files/annual\_reports/ USS%20Form%2010-K%20-%202018.pdf.

109. Dave Copeland, "Breaking the Integrated Mold," *Pittsburgh Tribune-Review*, 17 October 2002, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190506184130/https:// archive.triblive.com/news/breaking-the-integrated-mold/.

110. Allegheny County Health Department, *Major Source & Federally Enforceable State Operating Permit: United States Steel Corporation, Mon Valley Works, Clairton Plant,* issued 27 March 2012, renewed 27 September 2016, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190506184453/ https://gasp-pgh.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/U.-S.-Steel-Clairton-Works.pdf.

111. Ibid.

112. See note 64.

113. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Toxicology Program, *14th Report on Carcinogens: Coke Oven Emissions*, 2016, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190506184935/https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/ntp/ roc/content/profiles/cokeovenemissions.pdf.

114. Ibid.

115. Since 1996: see note 64.

116. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Compliance Information System – Air, USS/Clairton Works, accessed at https://ofmpub.epa.gov/enviro/airsquery. detail\_plt\_view?p\_id=PAACH0004200300032, 6 May 2019.

117. United States Steel Corporation, 2007 Annual Report and Form 10-K, undated, archived at https:// web.archive.org/web/20190717140038/http://www. annualreports.com/HostedData/AnnualReportArchive/u/ NYSE\_X\_2007.pdf.

118. Allegheny County Health Department, *Consent Order and Agreement in the Matter of United States Steel Corporation*, 17 March 2008.

119. Death: Jessica Prefling, Power Shift Network, Western PA Experiences the Dangers of Steel Manufacture, 7 May 2013, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190705155540/https://powershift.org/blogs/ western-pa-experiences-dangers-steel-manufacture.

120. U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Form 10-Q Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for the Quarterly Period Ending March 31, 2010 for United States Steel Corporation, undated, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190506203410/https://www.sec.gov/Archives/ edgar/data/1163302/000119312510094744/d10q.htm.

121. Ibid.

122. Ibid.

123. PennFuture, Letter to Gina McCarthy, et al., Re: Notice of Intent to Sue Under the Federal Clean Air Act and/ or Article XXI of the Allegheny County Health Department's Rules and Regulations, 28 January 2016, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190506203845/http:// pacokeovens.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/60-daynotice-clairton-FINAL-1.pdf.

124. Ibid.

125. Don Hopey, "Despite \$1.2B Upgrade, Clairton Coke Works Still Lagging on Air Pollution, Officials Say," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 18 September 2014, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190506204030/ https://www.post-gazette.com/local/south/2014/09/18/ Clairton-Coke-Works-better-but-still-lags-on-air-pollution/ stories/201409180187.

126. Allegheny County Health Department, Air Quality Annual Data Summary, Criteria Pollutants and Selected Other Pollutants for 2017, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190506204213/https://www.alleghenycounty. us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/Health\_Department/ Resources/Data\_and\_Reporting/Air\_Quality\_Reports/2017data-summary.pdf.

127. See note 104.

128. Clean Water Action and Clean Water Fund, Unfulfilled Promises: Failing to Protect Mon Valley Residents from Unhealthy Air, May 2019, archived at https://web. archive.org/web/20190506204503/https://www.cleanwater. org/sites/default/files/Mon%20Valley%20report%20May%20 2019%20FINAL.pdf.

129. Reid Frazier, "Teen's Asthma Frames Town's Struggle with Dirty Air," *WHYY*, 15 December 2018, archived at https:// web.archive.org/web/20190506204707/https://whyy.org/ articles/teenagers-asthma-in-shadow-of-clairton-cokeworks-frames-towns-struggle-with-dirty-air/.

130. See note 52.

131. See note 4.

132. See note 26.

133. BREATHE Project, *Asthma in Children*, accessed 6 May 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190506205420/https://breatheproject.org/asthmaon-the-rise/.

134. Janine Faust, "Study: Childhood Asthma Worsened by Emissions near Mon Valley's Clairton Coke Works," *Pittsburgh City Paper*, 15 January 2019, archived at https:// web.archive.org/web/20190506205621/https://www. pghcitypaper.com/pittsburgh/study-childhood-asthmaworsened-by-emissions-near-mon-valleys-clairton-cokeworks/Content?oid=13159552.

154. Motion: Sarah Boden and Reid Frazier, "County Health Department Wants to Team Up with Environmental Groups in Lawsuit Against U.S. Steel," *90.5 WESA*, 3 May 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190507131742/ https://www.wesa.fm/post/county-health-department-wantsteam-environmental-groups-lawsuit-against-us-steel; granted: Group Against Smog and Pollution, *Court Grants Motion for Health Department to Intervene in Federal Suit Against U.S. Steel*, 18 June 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190705165553/https://gasp-pgh.org/2019/06/18/ court-grants-motion-for-health-department-to-intervene-infederal-suit-against-u-s-steel/.

155. Allegheny County, *Health Department Petitions to Intervene in Federal Suit Against U.S. Steel* (press release), 3 May 2019.

156. Jamie Martines, "Clairton Coke Works Pollution Control Systems Back on Line After Monday Morning Fire," *Pittsburgh Tribune-Review*, 17 June 2019.

157. Allegheny County Health Department, *Emergency Order in the Matter of United States Steel Corporation* – *Clairton Coke Works*, Order #190603, 17 June 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190701205159/https:// alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/Health\_ Department/Resources/Legal/Docket/US-Steel-(June-2019)enforcement-order.pdf.

158. Daniel Moore, "U.S. Steel to Spend \$1 Billion on Mon Valley Works," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 2 May 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190507131958/ https://www.post-gazette.com/business/careerworkplace/2019/05/02/U-S-Steel-to-spend-1-billion-on-Mon-Valley-Works/stories/201905020023.

159. U.S. Steel, "U.S. Steel Announces State-of-the-Art Steelmaking Technology Investment at Mon Valley Works," (press release), via *West*, 2 May 2019, archived at https:// web.archive.org/web/20190507132241/https://www. globenewswire.com/news-release/2019/05/02/1815284/0/ en/U-S-Steel-Announces-State-of-The-Art-Steelmaking-Technology-Investment-at-Mon-Valley-Works.html. 160. Jeffery Fraser, Michael Wereschagin and Julia Fraser, "The Last Coke Works," *Pittsburgh Quarterly*, 22 May 2017, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190606003125/https://region.pittsburghquarterly. com/news/last-coke-works/.

161. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Clean Air Act Policy Compendium*, Volume 1, 1988 edition, Attachment A, accessed at https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF. cgi/91021SF7.PDF?Dockey=91021SF7.PDF.

162. Enforcement actions during the 1990s occurred during the period in which the corporation was known as USX.

163. See note 135; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Enforcement Accomplishments Report FY 1993,* April 1994, accessed at https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF. cgi/5000066T.PDF?Dockey=5000066T.PDF; Matthew P. Smith, "USX Settles Clairton Clean Air Case," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette,* 20 February 1993, 3-102, archived at https://web. archive.org/web/20190517134059/https://gasp-pgh.org/ wp-content/uploads/CC93.jpg.

164. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Enforcement and Compliance Assurance Accomplishments Report, FY 1995, July 1996, accessed at https://nepis.epa. gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/500007JK.PDF?Dockey=500007JK.PDF.

165. U.S. Department of Justice, "Notice of Lodging of Consent Decree Under the Clean Air Act," *Federal Register*, 64 Fed. Reg. 218, 61663, 12 November 1999.

166. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Integrated Compliance Information System-Air: USS Corp/Edgar Thomson Works*, accessed at https://ofmpub.epa.gov/enviro/ airsquery.detail\_plt\_view?p\_id=PAACH00,04200300202, 5 July 2019.

167. U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, Form 10-K Annual Report for the Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2009, United States Steel Corporation, undated, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190517134813/https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/ data/1163302/000119312510038824/d10k.htm.

194. See note 186.

195. See note 16.

196. Environmental Integrity Project, Allegheny County Health Department Agrees to Toothless Settlement with Owners of Polluting Steel Plant (press release), 23 May 2017, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190327205153/ https://www.environmentalintegrity.org/news/alleghenycounty-health-department-agrees-to-toothless-settlementwith-owners-of-polluting-steel-plant/.

197. See, for example, U.S. District Court for Western District of Pennsylvania, *United States of America and Allegheny County Health Department v. Allegheny Ludlum Corporation and Harsco Corporation*, Complaint, 20 November 2009.

198. U.S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, *United States of America and Allegheny County Health Department v. Allegheny Ludlum Corporation,* Complaint, 27 April 2010.

199. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Notice of Violation in the Matter of Allegheny Ludlum Corporation,* Docket No. CAA-III-08-004, 9 November 2007.

200. Business Wire, Allegheny Technologies Announces Strategic Investment to Expand Capabilities and Reduce Costs (press release), 17 September 2008, accessed at https:// www.businesswire.com/news/home/20080917005604/en/ Allegheny-Technologies-Announces-Strategic-Investment-Expand-Capabilities.

201. See note 11.

202. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Envirofacts: Toxics Release Inventory Search, Harsco Metals – Natrona*, TRI ID 15065HCKTTFEDER, accessed at https://oaspub. epa.gov/enviro/tris\_control\_v2.tris\_print?pPrev=1&tris\_ id=15065HCKTTFEDER, 21 February 2019.

203. See note 17.

204. See note 197.

205. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *Notice of Violation in the Matter of Harsco Corporation and Allegheny Ludlum Corporation*, Docket No. CAA-III-08-005, 9 November 2007.

206. See note 204.

207. Ibid.

208. U.S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, *United States of America and Allegheny County Health Department v. Allegheny Ludlum Corporation and Harsco Corporation*, Consent Decree, Civil Case No. 091546, 26 April 2010.

209. Allegheny County Health Department, *Notice 110*, 4 March 2011.

210. Allegheny County, *Notice of Violation/Settlement Offer #170302, Harsco Natrona Facility*, 24 March 2017.

211. Allegheny County Administrative Hearings, Harsco Metals and ATI Flat Rolled Products Holdings, LLC v. Allegheny County Health Department, Allegheny County's Reply in Opposition to Appellants' Petition/Request for Stay, 6 July 2018.

212. Ibid.

213. Ibid.

214. Allegheny County Health Department, ATI Flat Rolled Products Holdings, LLC v. Allegheny County Health Department, In Re: Appeal of Administrative Order Issued to Harsco Metals and ATI Flat Rolled Products Holdings, LLC: Petition for Stay, 28 June 2018, accessed at https:// alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/Health\_ Department/Resources/Legal/Docket/ATI-Harsco-Petition-For-Stay.pdf.

215. Ibid.

216. Ibid.

217. Allegheny County Health Department, *Allegheny County PA Title V Air Operating Permit Status - 05/15/19,* accessed at https://www.alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/ Allegheny\_Home/Health\_Department/Programs/Air\_ Quality/Allegheny-County-Title-V-permits-2019-05-13.pdf. 218. Eastman Chemical Resins Inc., *Jefferson Hills, Pennsylvania*, accessed 3 April 2019, archived at https://web. archive.org/web/20190403221236/https://www.eastman. com/Company/Worldwide/our\_sites/Pages/UnitedStates\_ Pennsylvania.aspx.

219. Allegheny County Health Department, *Revision* to the Allegheny County Portion of the Pennsylvania State Implementation Plan, 14 September 2017, accessed at https://alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/ Health\_Department/Programs/Air\_Quality/SIPs/SO2\_2010\_ NAAQS\_SIP\_9-14-2017.pdf.

220. See note 71.

221. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region III, Notice of Violation in the Matter of Eastman Company and Hercules Incorporated, Docket No. CAA-III-06-011, 23 December 2005.

222. Letter from Jill Thompson, Allegheny County Health Department, to Ronald D. Leario, Eastman Chemical Company, 28 April 2008, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190405214516/http://files.dep.state.pa.us/Air/ AirQuality/AQPortalFiles/Regulations%20and%20Clean%20 Air%20Plans/plans/plans/regionalhaze/Appendix\_BB.pdf.

223. U.S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, *United States of America and Allegheny County Health Department v. Eastman Chemical Resins Inc.*, Complaint, Civil Action No. 11-1240, 28 September 2011.

224. Ibid.

225. U.S. District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, United States of America and Allegheny County Health Department v. Eastman Chemical Resins Inc., Consent Decree, 6 December 2011.

226. Group Against Smog and Pollution, *Comments* of Group Against Smog and Pollution Regarding Draft Installation Permits for Eastman Chemical Resins Inc., 14 February 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190430180354/https://gasp-pgh.org/wp-content/ uploads/190214-GASP-comments-Eastman-Chemical-IP-8cand-18a.pdf. 228. JoAnn Truchan, Allegheny County Health Department, *Corrective Action to Eliminate Title V Operating Permit Backlog*, 26 June 2018, Appendix B, archived at https://www.alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_ Home/Health\_Department/Programs/Air\_Quality/ACHD%20 TVOP%203-Yr%20Plan%202018-06-26.pdf.

229. See note 18.

230. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Enforcement and Compliance History Online (ECHO) database, *Detailed Facility Report for McConway & Torley LLC/Steel Castings Mfg*, accessed at https://echo.epa.gov/ detailed-facility-report?fid=110000329458, 11 April 2019.

231. Manganese neurotoxicity: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, *Toxicological Profile for Manganese, Chapter 2*, September 2012, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190412134118/https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/ toxprofiles/tp151-c2.pdf.

232. Gary J. Toplak, Toplak & Associates, *Letter to Sandra Etzel, Chief Engineer, Air Quality Program, Allegheny County Health Department,* 6 August 2015, accessed from Group Against Smog and Pollution at http://gasp-pgh.org/ wp-content/uploads/0275ip013app2015-08-04.pdf.

233. Based on search of Toxics Release Inventory data from U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *TRI EZ Search*, accessed at https://www.epa.gov/enviro/tri-ez-search, 12 April 2019.

234. Based on analysis of Risk Screening Environmental Indicators data using U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *EasyRSEI Dashboard Version 2.3.7*, accessed at https://edap. epa.gov/public/extensions/EasyRSEI/EasyRSEI.html, 12 April 2019. Based on RSEI Scores for onsite air emissions of facilities in Allegheny County for TRI reporting year 2017.

235. Based on the U.S. EPA's determination of the level at which there would be no harm to human health over a lifetime of exposure. Allegheny County Health Department, *Lawrenceville Air Toxic Metals Study*, updated 12 March 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190412142021/ https://www.alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_ Home/Health\_Department/Resources/Data\_and\_Reporting/ Air\_Quality\_Reports/031219-Lawrenceville-Toxic-Metals.pdf.

227. Ibid.

236. See note 19. Based on monitoring results beginning April 2011.

237. National Institute of Environmental Health Sciences, *Lead*, accessed 12 April 2019, archived at https:// web.archive.org/web/20190412142204/https://www.niehs. nih.gov/health/topics/agents/lead/index.cfm.

238. Group Against Smog and Pollution, *McConway & Torley and GASP Announce Agreement to Reduce Air Emissions from Lawrenceville Steel Foundry* (press release), 29 June 2011, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190412142431/ https://gasp-pgh.org/media/gasp-press-releases/mcconwaytorley-and-gasp-announce-agreement-to-reduce-airemissions-from-lawrenceville-steel-foundry/.

#### 239. Ibid.

240. David D. Good, Allegheny County Health Department, *Memo to JoAnn Truchan Re: Review of Application, Operating Permit, McConway and Torley LLC,* 26 October 2018, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190412142626/https://gasp-pgh.org/wp-content/ uploads/MT-synrv.pdf.

241. Joe Osborne et al., *Comments Re: Draft Synthetic Minor Operating Permit #0275 – McConway & Torley LLC 109 48th St., Pittsburgh, PA 15201,* 14 April 2015, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190412142935/https://gasppgh.org/wp-content/uploads/GASP-et-al-comments-re-MT-Syn-Minor-OP-04-14-15.pdf.

#### 242. Ibid.

243. Lawrenceville United, *Notes from the Community Meeting Regarding Air Quality in Lawrenceville, Question and Answer Session, January 21, 2016,* undated, accessed at https://web.archive.org/web/20190705175055/http://www. lunited.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Air-Quality-1-20-2016-QA-1.pdf.

244. Andy Kubis, "As Neighborhood Changes, Residents Worry About Pollution from Legacy Industry," *Allegheny Front,* 9 December 2017, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20190412143127/https://www.alleghenyfront.org/ as-neighborhood-changes-residents-worry-about-pollutionfrom-legacy-industry/. 245. Allegheny County Health Department, *In the Matter of McConway & Torley LLC, Appeal of Permit SMSIP-14 and SMSOP #0275, Notice of Appeal,* 26 November 2018, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190412143757/ https://alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/ Health\_Department/Resources/Legal/Docket/McConwayand-Torley-(2018)-Appeal.pdf.

#### 246. See note 19.

247. Through June 6. Based on data downloaded from Smell Pittsburgh, https://smellpgh.org/data.html, 6 June 2019.

248. Allegheny County Health Department, *Review* of *Title V Operating Permit for Allied Waste-Imperial Landfill*, 5 July 2018, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190411001427/https://gasp-pgh.org/wp-content/ uploads/imperial-tvrv-draft.pdf. Allied Waste Systems is a subsidiary of Republic Services.

249. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, *LMOP* (*Landfill Methane Outreach Program*) *Database: Detailed File of Currently Operational Projects (February 2019),* downloaded from https://www.epa.gov/Imop/landfill-gasenergy-project-data, 26 April 2019.

250. Quarter mile: see note 20.

251. Don Hopey, "BPI's Findlay Landfill to Expand Vertically," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 3 October 1998.

252. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Administrative Compliance Order by Consent in the Matter of BFI Waste Systems of North America Inc., 11 Boggs Rd., Imperial, PA, Docket No. CAA-03-2004-0225DA, 14 June 2004.

#### 253. See note 20.

254. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, *Company Agrees to Increase Monitoring, Move Disposal Site Further from School* (press release), 3 January 2011, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190409215625/https://www.prnewswire.com/ news-releases/dep-fines-imperial-landfill-owners-142000for-ongoing-odor-discharge-violations-requires-operationalimprovements-112817474.html. 255. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Notice of Violation, Allied Waste Systems of Pennsylvania, Inspection 1780817, 2 April 2009; Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Notice of Violation, Allied Waste Systems of Pennsylvania, Inspection 1801193, 4 June 2009; Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Notice of Violation, Allied Waste Systems of Pennsylvania, Inspection 1822079, 21 August 2009; Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, Notice of Violation, Allied Waste Systems of Pennsylvania, Inspection 1787362, 8 October 2009.

256. See note 20.

257. Ibid.

258. Ibid.

259. U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, *Form 10-Q*, *Republic Services Inc., for the quarter ending June 30, 2010*, 25.

260. Ibid.; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Integrated Compliance Information System, ICIS-Air search, Allied Waste Svc of PA/MSW LDFL, accessed at https:// ofmpub.epa.gov/enviro/airsquery.detail\_plt\_view?p\_ id=PAACH0004200300283, 26 April 2019.

261. Andrea Iglar, "Landfill in Findlay Will Pay Fine, Tighten Odor Controls," *Pittsburgh Post-Gazette*, 6 January 2011, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190410230220/https://www.post-gazette.com/local/ west/2011/01/06/Landfill-in-Findlay-will-pay-fine-tightenodor-controls/stories/201101060280

262. Ibid.

263. Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection, "DEP Fines Imperial Landfill Owners \$142,000 for Ongoing Odor, Discharge Violations; Requires Operational Improvements" (press release), *PR Newswire*, 3 January 2011, archived at https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/ dep-fines-imperial-landfill-owners-142000-for-ongoingodor-discharge-violations-requires-operationalimprovements-112817474.html.

264. Allegheny County, *Notice of Violation: Allied Waste Systems of PA*, 25 March 2016.

265. Allegheny County Health Department, *Review* of Title V Operating Permit for Allied Waste-Imperial Landfill, 5 July 2018, archived at https://web.archive.org/ web/20190411001427/https://gasp-pgh.org/wp-content/ uploads/imperial-tvrv-draft.pdf.

266. See note 217.

267. See, for example, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Inspector General, *EPA Must Improve Oversight of State Enforcement*, 9 December 2011, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190606011412/ https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/ documents/20111209-12-p-0113.pdf.

268. See note 27.

269. Full approval: Environmental Protection Agency, *Clean Air Act Full Approval of Partial Operating Permit Program; Allegheny County; Pennsylvania*, 1 November 2001; see note 18.

270. See note 217.

271. See note 18.

272. Allegheny County Health Department, Rules and Regulations, Article XXI, Air Pollution Control, Section 2109.02(a)(1), as amended through 21 February 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190606123449/https:// www.alleghenycounty.us/uploadedFiles/Allegheny\_Home/ Health\_Department/Article-21-Air-Pollution-Control.pdf.

273. See note 157.

274. Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Joint Senate and House Democratic Policy Committee, *Joint Public Hearing on Improving Air Quality*, 7 February 2019, archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20190606012428/ http://www.pahouse.com/files/Documents/ Testimony/2019-02-08\_102639\_\_hdpc020719.pdf.

275. See note 147.

276. See note 20.